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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of
Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors of Sanbase
Corporation Limited (“Sanbase Corporation” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |
hereby present the audited condensed consolidated results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”).

During the financial year, the prevailing high interest rates and
geopolitical instability have cast doubts on market sentiment,
with companies slowing down their expansion plans due to
uncertain economic outlook, leading to subdued demand for
commercial space in Hong Kong. According to a market report
from Jones Lang LaSalle (“JLL"), the vacancy rate for Grade A
office buildings in Hong Kong remains high, increasing to 13.7%
by the end of March 2025. As a result, the fit-out services
industry, a close proxy to the demand for commercial space,
also saw notable operational pressure.

Facing such challenging conditions, the Group has inevitably
experienced some adversities. However, through our
professionalism and hard work, the number of projects
undertaken during the Year has remained largely stable as
compared with last year, with our revenue reporting a modest
decrease of 2.2% year-on-year to approximately HKD419
million. Although the scale of these projects has become
smaller in size, we have showcased our ability to maintain
market share and retain customers through service excellence
and profit margin adjustment. Our gross profit recorded a
decline by 21.6% to HKD19.8 million during the Year; yet, as
market sentiment recovers, the market share and customer
loyalty should support an improvement in future profitability.

In the short term, we will continue to refine our subcontractor
portfolio by actively seeking high-quality partners with excellent
cost-performance ratios, in order to maintain our work quality
while increasing our profit margins. We will also look into fit-
out opportunities beyond Grade A office buildings, such as
collaborations with non-governmental organizations, retails
sector and educational institutions, in order to further diversify
our revenue mix.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER®E

From a longer-term perspective, we remain confident in the
prospect of the Grade A office fit-out market. As the market
gradually recovers, particularly with the government being the
key driver behind different development initiatives, we anticipate
a resurgence in the eventual demand for fit-out services. The
development of the northern metropolitan area and other large-
scale projects are also expected to bring new impetus to the
market, supporting the Group’s long-term growth.

Lastly, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our Board
members, staff, and shareholders for their support of Sanbase
Corporation. As we move forward, we will continue to uphold
the corporate motto of “To Do Better”, striving to provide the
highest quality services to our customers, and generate better
returns for our shareholders.

Chairman of the Board
WONG Sai Chuen

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BB

Revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit margin
(Loss)/profit before income tax
Loss attributable to owners

of the Company

Basic and diluted loss per share
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Audited
RER

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A3MBLEE

2025
20255
HKD’000
FET

418,769
19,760

4.7%

(1,279)

(3,976)

HK cents

Bl

(1.99)

2024
20244
HKD’000
FETT

428,077
25,192

5.9%

1,749

(1,369)

HK cents

JEN

(0.69)

Change in
percentage
BOLLE

-2.2%
-21.6%

-1.2ppt
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an interior fit-out solutions provider focusing on
providing services to clients whose offices are predominately
situated in Grade A offices in Hong Kong and the PRC. Our role
in these fit-out projects entails the overall project management,
coordination and implementation of fit-out projects by engaging
subcontractors from different trades for their services and
labour, providing expertise such as controlling the quality
aspects of the projects and carrying out the corresponding
project management.

Our projects can be broadly categorised into (i) bare shell
fit-out which is undertaken in the interior space of a vacant
premise having basic flooring and plastered walls; (ii) restacking
which involves upgrading and re-planning and providing
modification works to existing interior structures of a premise;
(iii) reinstatement which involves demolishing any additional
moveable structure that the existing tenant installed; (iv) design;
(v) churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others which involve
providing minor repairs and general builder’s maintenance work
to the tenant's office facilities, pest control and emergency
call services, project management services and mechanical,
electrical and plumbing (the “MEP”) consultancy services.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded
a decrease in revenue of 2.2% to HKD418.8 million from
HKD428.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
from the business of bare shell fit-out. The Group’s gross profit
decreased to HKD19.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2025 from HKD25.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024,
representing a decrease of 21.6%.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the loss attributable to
owners of the Company was HKD4.0 million while the loss
attributable to owners of the Company was HKD1.4 million
for the corresponding period of last year (i.e., the year ended
31 March 2024).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from (i) bare shell
fit-out; (i) restacking; (iii) reinstatement; (iv) design; (v) churn
works; and (vi) maintenance and others. For the year ended 31
March 2025, the revenue of the Group was HKD418.8 million,
representing a decrease of 2.2% as compared with HKD428.1
million recorded last year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in revenue from the business of bare shell fit-
out.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by project types for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024:

Bt 7 [ R

KA

AEEBMNBRAETERBHELERE: (i) EE:
R:(v)&a: WWEBEIR RVIREREM -HE
2025F3H31HIEFE A& B MK A R418.88 85
T BREFHA28 1B BB TR D2.2% - Z W AR E
TEHERNTEAEEFZEBHRARD

T RSV A ERFE 20255 M2024F3A31H IEFEE
REBRELNED W ARM:

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEE

2025 2024
20254 20244

HKD’000 % HKD’000 %
FET BT FET B

Project type EHEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 357,099 85.3 375,240 87.7
Restacking =R 15,442 3.7 22,375 5.2
Reinstatement EIR 3,131 0.7 - -
Design B& 12,295 2.9 5,201 1.2
Churn works THTHE 28,873 6.9 24,288 5.7
Maintenance and others REREM 1,929 0.5 973 0.2
Total HEt 418,769 100.0 428,077 100.0

As shown in table above, our bare shell fit-out contributed to
85.3% and 87.7% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, respectively. Revenue from
bare shell fit-out was HKD357.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2025, representing an decrease of 4.8% as compared
with HKD375.2 million recorded last year.

From 1 April 2024 and up to 31 March 2025, we were newly
awarded a total of 33 bare shell fit-out projects with a total
project sum of HKD328.8 million.

1 0 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

W ERFTR B E2025%F K2024F3H31B IEFE -
BN EREEZEROBRAD G AERRKARN
85.3% K87.7% ° H £22025F3A31H I FE > EXE
HEEEHWAABB7TIBE BT BEFM375.28
BB AL4.8% o

E2024F4 A1 A L EH £2025F3A310 B ML ES
QEHMERFHKEIER JEH LT A328.88 88
7_Eo



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised of subcontracting
charges and staff costs. Cost of sales for the year ended
31 March 2025 was HKD399.0 million, representing a decrease
of 1.0% as compared with HKD402.9 million recorded last year.
The decrease was in line with the decrease in revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s overall gross profit was HKD19.8 million for the
year ended 31 March 2025, representing a decrease of 21.6%
as compared with HKD25.2 million recorded last year of the
Group. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March
2025 was 4.7%, representing a decrease of 1.2% as compared
with 5.9% for the corresponding period of last year. Such
decrease in the gross profit was primarily due to the decrease
in gross profit from the business of bare shell fit-out.

Other income

Other income for the current year (i.e., the year ended 31
March 2025) was HKD 5,000, which is approximately the same
as the corresponding period of last year.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses was HKD19.2 million for the current
year, representing a decrease of 27.9% as compared with
HKD26.7 million recorded last year. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to (i) a decrease of HKD5.4 million in
administrative staff costs and (i) a decrease of HKD1.3 million
in short-term lease payments.

Finance costs

Finance costs which comprised mainly the interest on the
lease liabilities for the current year was 0.1 million, which is
approximately the same as the corresponding period of last
year.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense for the current year was HKDO0.2 million
while income tax expense for last year was HKD1.0 million.

Loss for the year
Net loss was HKD1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2025
while net profit of HKDO.7 million was recorded for last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was HKD4.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025, while loss attributable to
owners of the Company was HKD1.4 million for last year.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024:
Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,

GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group financed its
operation by its internal resources. As at 31 March 2025, the
Group had net current assets of HKD114.8 million (31 March
2024: HKD116.0 million), including cash and cash equivalents
of HKD103.6 million (31 March 2024: HKD139.6 million) mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was 1.8 times as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024:
2.0 times). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March
2025 was 1.8% (31 March 2024: 2.9%). The gearing ratio
is calculated as total debt divided by total equity as at the
respective period end. Total debt includes lease liabilities.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company
as at 31 March 2025. The equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HKD132.9 million as at
31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: HKD136.9 million).

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position for the year ended 31 March 2025.
To manage the liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet
its funding requirements from time to time.

As the revenue and costs of the Group are mainly denominated
in HKD and RMB, the Board considers that the Group has no
significant foreign exchange exposures.

The Group has no exposure to fluctuations in exchange rate
and did not make any foreign exchange related hedges for the
year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | | |

EEENWE DN

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The pledge bank deposits amounted to HKD12.6 million as at
31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any material
capital commitments (31 March 2024: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED

COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not have
any significant investment held, or material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have any plans for material investment or acquisition of capital
assets as at 31 March 2025 and as at the date of this annual
report. The Company will make further announcement in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules, where applicable, if
any investments and acquisition opportunities materialise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group provided guarantees of surety
bonds of HKD22.3 million (31 March 2024: HKD15.2 million) in
respect of 5 (31 March 2024: 4) interior fit-out solution service
contracts of the Group in its ordinary course of business.

As at 31 March 2025, performance guarantees of HKDG6.5
million (831 March 2024: Nil) were given by a bank in favour
of the Group’s customers in respect of 5 (31 March 2024:
Nil) interior fit-out solution service contracts of the Group
as security for the due performance and observance of the
Group’s obligations under the contracts entered into between
the Group and their customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to their
customers to whom surety bonds and performance guarantees
have been given, such customers may demand the bank to
pay to them the sum or sum stipulated in such demand. The
Group will become liable to compensate such bank accordingly.
The relevant surety bonds and performance guarantees will be
released.

The surety bonds and performance guarantees were secured
by the pledged bank deposits as disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

At the end of each reporting period, the Directors of the
Company do not consider it is probable that a claim will be
made against the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 67 (31
March 2024: 67) employees. To ensure that the Group is
able to attract and retain staff capable of attaining the best
performance levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on
a regular basis. In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s results and
individual performance. The total staff cost for the year ended
31 March 2025 amounted to approximately HKD43.0 million (31
March 2024: HKD49.3 million).

The terms of employment of employees conform to normal
commercial practice. The remuneration of the employees,
Directors and senior management of the Group is set and paid
on the basis of the relevant employees’, Directors’ and senior
managements’ qualifications, competence, work performance,
industry experience, relevant market trend and the Group’s
operating results, etc. Other benefits including share options,
retirement benefits, subsidised medical care, pension funds and
training programmes are offered to eligible employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

OUTLOOK

Entering the 2025/2026 financial year, against the backdrop of
prevailing high interest rates and growing macro uncertainties,
most corporates remained concerned with the macro
environment. This has led to companies slowing down or
suspending their expansion plans. According to a report
from JLL, the market for office spaces market in Hong Kong
recorded a negative net absorption of 143,400 square feet in
the first quarter of 2025. The decline is primarily attributable to
company consolidations and relocations, releasing substantial
office spaces during the process. In addition, as new office
building projects contributed to the supply, the overall office
vacancy rate rose further to 13.7% by the end of March
2025. Looking into submarket performance, the vacancy rate
in Kowloon East increased from 18.6% in the fourth quarter
of 2024 to 21.3%. Conversely, the vacancy rate in Central
experienced a slight decrease from 11.6% to 11.5%, whereas
the vacancy rate in Wan Chai/Causeway Bay and Tsim Sha Tsui
improved to 9.5% and 8.3%, respectively.

Other than occupancy rates, a recent report from Knight Frank
has indicated that overall rent rates in Hong Kong have declined
for the third consecutive month, with a notable reduction among
traditional Grade A offices in Central. The trend has prompted
an increasing number of tenants to switch to higher-quality
leasing options, which is anticipated to drive the demand for
local Grade A office fit-out services.

By considering the above market movement, the Group is
dedicated to enhancing its service quality and adapting to the
latest market dynamics in order to capture a larger market
share. In addition, the Group will further strengthen its cost
control measures and optimize its subcontractor portfolio, laying
the solid foundation for quality and profitability enhancement.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEREHK

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong”), aged 50, is the Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the
Company since 4 January 2018. Mr. Wong was also appointed
as the chairman of the nomination committee on 8 January
2020. Mr. Wong founded the Group in 2009 and was appointed
as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong is responsible for
the strategic planning, business development, daily operations
and major decision making of the Group. Mr. Wong is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience in the interior fit-out
industry. Mr. Wong is the spouse of Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie,
an executive Director of the Company.

The disclosable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and
underlying shares under the provisions of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations” under the Directors’
Report of this annual report.

Ms. HUI Man Yee, Maggie (“Ms. Hui”), aged 48, is an
executive Director of the Company since 4 January 2018.
Ms. Hui joined the Group in April 2015 and was appointed as
a Director on 6 July 2017. Ms. Hui was also appointed as a
member of the nomination committee on 20 June 2025. Ms.
Hui is responsible for daily operations, business development,
human resources and administrative management of the
Group. Ms. Hui is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hui has over 10 years of
experience in the hotel industry. Ms. Hui graduated from
Sheffield Hallam University in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in hotel and tourism management
in June 1998. Ms. Hui then obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from University of Birmingham in the
United Kingdom in December 2011. Ms. Hui is the spouse
of Mr. Wong, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director of the Company.

The disclosable interests of Ms. Hui in the shares and
underlying shares under the provisions of Part XV of the
SFO are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any
Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this
annual report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEREHK

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 57, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company since 21 January
2020, and was re-designated as the chairman of the
remuneration committee on 28 January 2022. Mr. Cheung has
over 20 years of experience in financial management, treasury,
and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Prosper Construction Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6816), since August 2017. From April 2015 to June
2020, Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive
director of GSN Corporations Limited (formerly known as New
Western Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8242) and he was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1041), from August 2020 to October 2020.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College,
London, the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Chun Yat (“Mr. Law”), aged 37, is an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee, the nomination committee, and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 25 February 2022. Mr. Law
has over 10 years of experience in accounting, auditing,
and taxation matters. Mr. Law holds a bachelor’s degree of
Commerce (Honours) in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Baptist University. Mr. Law is a member and Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEREHK

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chi Wai (“Mr. Siu”), aged 44, is an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee,
the nomination committee, and the remuneration committee of
the Company since 9 November 2023.

Mr. Siu has over 16 years of experience in valuation consulting,
financial risk management and investment management. Since
August 2022, he has been serving as an independent director
of Magic Empire Global Limited, a company listed on Nasdaq
Capital Market (stock code: MEGL) principally engaged in
the provision of corporate financial advisory services. Since
February 2019, Mr. Siu has also been serving as the chief
executive officer of GCA Professional Services Group. From
January 2016 to January 2019, Mr. Siu served as the chief
executive officer of Yemaigu Internet Financial Services Ltd.,
a Shenzhen-based peer-to-peer online investment platform.
Prior to these positions, Mr. Siu served in companies such as
UBS AG and Daiwa Capital Markets with a focus on corporate
finance advisory services. Mr. Siu received a bachelor’'s degree
in business administration from the University of Toronto,
Canada in June 2005. Mr. Siu is a Chartered Financial Analyst
and a Certified Public Accountant of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the provision of interior fit-out
solutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in the note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by an
operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 which includes an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators and a
discussion on the Group’s likely future business development,
important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company, the relationships between
the Company and its key stakeholders including its employees,
customers and suppliers, and a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided in
the paragraphs headed “Financial Highlights”, “Financial Review”,
“Outlook”, “Events after the Reporting Period”, “Compliance
with Laws and Regulations”, “Relationship with Customers,
Suppliers, Employees and Shareholders” and “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties”, respectively of this annual report. Such discussion
forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the business. The Board is aware that
the Group is exposed to various risks and the principal risks
and uncertainties are summarized below:

° the Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the pandemic or public health incident, which may slow
down the progress of projects;

° we depend on our subcontractors to carry out various
trades of work and bear the risks associated with
fluctuations in subcontracting charges, substandard
performance and instability of their operations;
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

° the Group’s business is project-based. Fee collection and
profit margin depend on the terms of the work contract
and may not be regular;

° most of the revenue is derived from contracts awarded
through competitive tendering and the contracts are non-
recurring in nature. The Group’s business depends on its
success on project tenders;

° we determine the tender price based on our estimation of
the time and costs involved, which may not be accurate;
and

° our liquidity and financial position may be adversely
affected if we cannot receive progress payments or
retention money in full in time or at all.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to minimizing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve
a balance between the quality and efficiency of our services
and the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and
environmental degradation. Accordingly, the Group promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees
and has taken a proactive approach to affect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group is able to
minimize physical travelling and printing.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholders of the Group, their contribution
and support are valuable to the Group at all times. The
Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits policies
accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits include but
are not limited to discretionary bonus, are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, EMPLOYEES AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The success of the Group also depends on the support from
key parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group has maintained good relationships with the customers
and suppliers and there was no material dispute between the
Group and the customers or the suppliers.

Regarding the employees, the Group focuses on the talents
of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a
harmonious and professional working environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, we have provided competitive
remuneration packages to our employees to recognise their
contribution to the Group.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
the Shareholders. The Group will focus on our core business
for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the
Shareholders with dividend payouts while taking into account
the business development needs and financial health of the
Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the GEM Listing Rules and the
SFO relating to, among other things, the information disclosure
and corporate governance. For more information about the
measures adopted by the Group for environmental protection
and regulatory compliance during this financial year, please
refer to the environmental, social and governance report of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 116 to 117 of this annual
report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable
and sustainable dividend policy. The Board would strive to
strike a balance between meeting Shareholder’'s expectations
and managing funds prudently. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy which comprehensively consider the macro-
economic, the competition pattern of the industry and its
own development strategy. Final dividends declared by the
Company shall be subject to Shareholder’s approval. The Board
will review the dividend policy from time to time and it may be
revised as appropriate. There is no assurance that the Company
will be able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount
set out in any plan by the Board.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

As far as the Company is aware, as at 31 March 2025, there
has been no arrangement under which any Shareholder has
waived, or agreed to waive, any dividends proposed to be
distributed for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(THE “AGM”)

In order to ascertain the entitlement of Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM, the transfer books and register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
19 August 2025 to Friday, 22 August 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be affected. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
18 August 2025.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 120 and in note 28(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD64.9 million (2024: HKD66.4 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to HKD7,500 (2024: HKD11,400).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company is set out in note 21 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements during the year in the share options is
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” section contained in this Directors’
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”) and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Cayman lIslands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 212 of
this annual report.

SHARES AND DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any shares and debentures during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Law Chun Yat

Siu Chi Wai

In accordance with Article 109 of the Articles and pursuant to
Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen
and Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie (collectively, the “Retiring
Directors”) will retire as Directors by rotation at the AGM and,
being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM. Further particulars of the Retiring Directors are
set out in the circular to the shareholders sent together with
this annual report. All other existing Directors shall continue in
office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company, its
holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party or in which a Director or an entity connected
with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Other than the Directors’ service agreements and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2025.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 29(a) and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the remuneration committee of the Board (the
‘Remuneration Committee”) with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interest or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required to be recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
securities transactions by the directors were as follows:

(A) Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company

Name of Directors/
chief executive

Capacity/
nature of interest

EERESTRAEBREQFHEMHA
BEERG HEROREZVESERK

NP
RTB

MR2025F3A31H A RREERZESITHRABRAE
AREEFEMAEEE (EERBBEMFESTER
FREEKRAIEXVI) MY BERDRESTE
ERBEELARPEEAEXVIEFETRSD B AHNE KR
RAIRBMRINEZERAR (BEREESRBEK
PIMBEBIEXFESEWRAKNEFRENERRAR) -
KIRBEELELR P EEN FI525BELAARRTFE
ZELMANEZRARSIBBEEBESETESR
SHGEM FHIRBIE5.4655.67IKB FARBITME AR
DNEIRBRTMER AR T

A) REQRBAEBRBROREBRONGT R

Number of
issued ordinary
Shares held/
interested in

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

i/ BEREN HE BT
EE BETBRASRS BB/ REtE BERTEBREE BAEDH
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 (Note 1) 56.25%

corporation

FTHEFEE XA E R (Bat1)
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie Interest of spouse 112,500,000 (Note 2) 56.25%
Fehrt e B & (His2)
Notes: Bt -
1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in 1. FHEFEEHREEERZORMDEEHEFRAR (—

consist of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square
International Investment Limited, a company wholly owned
by him, in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, is the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen and she was also deemed to be interested in the
112,500,000 Shares, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EEREBTHRAEREAQAHIEM[E
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN BErERG HEARORESHERZR

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND KRB (#)
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(B) Long Position in the Shares of associated (B) REEEZERMONEE
corporations

Number of
Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/ issued shares Percentage of
chief executive corporation nature of interest held/interested in shareholding
Fiss/ BEREREN
EZ /BRTBARRS HELEER B/ BEME ERTRHYE EREOL
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Madison Square Beneficial owner 37,500 100%
International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
FHFEAE tHEFRAF (Mi2) EXBAA
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Madison Square Interest of spouse 37,500 100%
Maggie (Note 1) International Investment
Limited (Note 2)

FEeBRT (M) e FRRF (fiz2) B

Notes: B e

1. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai 1. FERZLIDNEFHFLEENRSB BEFHFLH
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in Mr. Wong Sai Chuen’s EBROIEXVEH #RARTIHFLAERNTSE
interest in Madison Square International Investment Limited, AT SR HEB -
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed 2. BREBHFRBEKRMNEXVE  EMEAEER
corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”. NAWEIEHEEAE] - HEFRARBFEAEAR
Madison Square International Investment Limited held A E BT A B956.25% « A& 7N A B B9 A B R
56.25% of the Company’s issued share capital and thus °

was the Company’s associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the & FXFriEEIN 202563 A31H HEARAQAFE
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close SZRHESTHRAESZHEZ ZFTHBANAKRQ T S E
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, T{[MHEEE (FEREFHLBASEA) BTG
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its MMM MESPEE T AERIORE -

associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporate or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests and short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Share of the Company

FERRRAEMALTRERTRS XA
ERODNERR KR

R2025%3A31 0  IBEFEMA RIEZEF R BE &GS
FEIBOHRFEMBRMACEER AR KD RIAH
Bin6% A LR s MORBREBH AL (ARAES
FEBTHABRIN FIHWET

REAADEBERROREBERONETR

Number of
issued
ordinary
Capacity/ Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested in shareholding
i/ BEEEN
IR R A By HEME ERTERERYE BERBESH
Madison Square International Beneficial owner 112,500,000 56.25%
Investment Limited (Note 1)
tEBRAT (Hit1) EmlEA A
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 37,500,000 18.75%
(Note 2)
BEHEBRAT (HiF2) EmlA A
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 18.75%
corporation
EEE KL (HiF2) REEEER
Ms. Ho Sin Ying (Note 3) Interest of spouse 37,500,000 18.75%
&+ (K71:23) il (B =
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in consist
of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square International
Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be interested under Part XV
of the SFO. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sai Chuen and she was also deemed to be interested in the
112,500,000 Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist of
37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment Group
Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which Mr. Wong Kin
Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV of the SFO.

3. Ms. Ho Sin Ying is the spouse of Mr. Wong Kin Kei and she was
also deemed to be interested in the 37,500,000 Shares pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme include
directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
other person who is in the absolute discretion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

D
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g
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme as
at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 March 2025
and the date of this annual report was 20,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
eligible person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a consideration
of HKD1 by the grantee. Such offer may be accepted and
payment of consideration shall be made by a grantee within the
time limit to be determined by the Board which will be specified
in the offer letter.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options may be vested
over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules. Accordingly, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this
annual report is approximately 2 years.

The exercise price of share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iiij the nominal value of a
Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted, exercised
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report, hence there was no
outstanding share option as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during or at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2025 was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to an arrangement that would enable the Directors
or their close associates to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, the Directors, company secretary and other officers
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
incur in or sustain by the execution of their duties in their
respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good
faith.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” above and note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for 17.6% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales to the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for 61.0% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 7.8% of the Group’s
total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable to the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 28.6% of the
Group’s total purchases and hence accounted for less than
30% of the Group’s total revenues for the year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
or their respective close associates, or Shareholders owning
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital (excluding
treasury shares) had any beneficial interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into certain transactions
with related parties as defined in accordance with applicable
accounting standards, details of which are disclosed in note
24 to the consolidated financial statements. Such related party
transactions fall under the definition of connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and they are fully exempted pursuant to Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the applicable disclosure and other requirements
in respect of such connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Save for such related party transactions,
the Group had no transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted a review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities, nor
were there any sales of treasury shares of the Company during
the year. As of 31 March 2025, the Company did not hold any
treasury shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 37 to 61
of this annual report.

Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is the Chairman, the chief executive
officer, the executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company respectively, his biographical details are set out on
page 16 of this annual report.

Ms. Cheng Faye is the company secretary of the Company, she
is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional
and an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report which explains
how the Company complies with the environmental, social and
governance reporting guide in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing
Rules is set out on pages 62 to 106 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least
25% of the issued shares were held by the public) as required
by Rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year and
as at the date of this annual report.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders or any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are
they aware of any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor
are they aware of any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 8 December 2017, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen, a controlling
shareholder, and Madison Square International Investment
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Covenantors”), and the
Company (for itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries)
entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Non-competition
Deed”), pursuant to which each of the Covenantors has
irrevocably, jointly and severally given certain non-competition
undertakings to the Company. Details of the Non-competition
Deed are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus.

The Covenantors confirmed that they have complied with the
Non-competition Deed for the year ended 31 March 2025. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the year ended 31 March 2025 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Non-competition
Deed has been fully complied. Save as disclosed herein, no
contracts of significance (including contracts of significance for
the provision of services) satisfied the Company (or any of its
subsidiaries) and any controlling shareholder of the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) subscribed at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRS

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Director, an annual confirmation of his independence
as regard to each of the factors referred to in Rule 5.09(1) to
(8) of the GEM Listing Rule. Each of the independent non-
executive Director confirms that (i) they have no past or present
financial or other interest in the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries or any connection with any core connected person
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company; and (ii)
there are no other factors that may affect their independence at
the time of their appointment. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

As required by Hong Kong law, the Group also makes
contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. Both the employer and employee are required to make
contributions to the employee’s individual account in the MPF
Scheme at a specified percentage of the employee’s monthly
income.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes (the “PRC
Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute
to the PRC Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the
eligible employees. Contribution made to the PRC Schemes is
calculated based on the certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC.
The relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the PRC Schemes
is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the PRC
Schemes.
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The MPF Scheme and the PRC Schemes are defined
contribution schemes. The MPF Scheme and the PRC Schemes
do not have an arrangement such that forfeited contributions
(by employers on behalf of employees who leave the MPF
Scheme and the PRC Schemes prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) may be used by the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions. Therefore there was no amount
of forfeited contributions that could be utilised during the year
ended 31 March 2025 nor was there any available to reduce
the Group’s existing level of contributions as at 31 March 2025.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee of the Board
(the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference which
are no less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules (the “CG Code”). Currently, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi
Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025, which is of the opinion that such
information has been prepared in accordance with all applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. The Company has
changed its auditors from PricewaterhouseCoopers to Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited on 24 January 2025. For details of
change of auditor, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 24 January 2025.

PUBLICATION OF 2025 ANNUAL REPORT
The 2025 annual report of the Company containing all
the information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be
dispatched to Shareholders and will also be published on
the website of HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) as well as the
website of the Company (www.sclhk.com).
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CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
There is no change in the information of the Directors pursuant
to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the date
of the Company’s interim report 2024, up to the date of this
annual report. Save as disclosed herein, as at the date of this
annual report, the Directors confirm that no information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not
aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2025 and up to the date
of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Sanbase Corporation Limited
Wong Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to adopting a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures throughout the
Group. The Directors firmly believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the steady
growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders.

The Company has complied throughout the year ended
31 March 2025 with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules, except the following deviation:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong, being
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been primarily
responsible for scrutinizing the performance of management in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, monitoring
the Group’s performance reporting, management and business
development, ensuring corporate governance practices and
procedures of the Group and formulating business strategies
and policies of the Group since 2009. As the Board meets
regularly to consider matters relating to business operations of
the Group, all major decisions are made in consultation with
members of the Board and relevant Board committees, and
there are three independent non-executive Directors on the
Board offering independent perspectives, the Board is of the
view that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure
sufficient balance of powers and authorities between the
Board and the management of the Company, and the above
arrangement will not impair the balance of power and authority
of the Board and the executive management. The effectiveness
of corporate planning and implementation of corporate
strategies and decisions will generally not be undermined.

To maintain a high standard of corporate governance practice
for the Company, the nomination committee of the Board and
the Board shall nevertheless review the effectiveness of the
structure and composition of the Board from time to time in
light of the prevailing circumstances. The Company will continue
to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure its compliance with the CG Code.
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TRERMSE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standards set out in
the Required Standard of Dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decisions and performance. The Board is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should carry
out their fiduciary duties in good faith, and make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company as a whole.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
and internal control systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the senior management
and the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the senior management. The management provides sufficient
explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make
an informed assessment of financial and other information port
before it for approval. The Board has the full support of the
senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing Shareholders value. The Board
comprises two executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors currently. The members of the Board during
the year and up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Law Chun Yat

Siu Chi Wai

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has met the
requirements under Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules having a minimum of three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
businesses and functional divisions of the Group in accordance
with his/her expertise. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different businesses and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they constitute
the majority of each of the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings and taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEEE (&)
The skills matrix below sets out the skills and expertise of the TXRIIHZEZ S A BN RENE XN
Board:

Skill and Experience

. Environment, Accounting/Finance/ Internal Control &
I ESNTONIERED R e S Global Busingss Social & Governance Legal&CgmpHance Risk Management
eELuE e S ELE P o\ o reies By
s RREE BImR BEOHERER  BHEMERRAR  AISHRERER
Wong
O /Q\ Sai Chuen v v v v v v
o
Executive Hu
Director m:;;:e, v v v v v v
HEEE
Cheung
Chi Man,
Dennis ‘/ ‘/ ‘/ ‘/ ‘/
[9] BEX
hIJ Law
Independent  LTLNE v v v v v
Non-Executive W3z
Director
BuiuaEs N
Chi Wai v v v v v
[ Foy-]
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rule and considers them to be independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for Mr. Wong
and Ms. Hui, the Directors have no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship)
between any members of the Board. Biographies of the
Directors are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this annual report.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
renewal upon expiry of the existing term. The Company has
entered into a director’s service agreement with each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong and Ms. Hui, for a term
of three years.

The Company has issued letters of appointment to each of
the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung
Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai, with
a term of one year commencing from their respective dates of
appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his/her appointment, whereas any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company. The Directors should be eligible
for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the
executive Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and
each Director is given an opportunity to include items in the
agenda. The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings on
a quarterly basis with the active participation of the Directors.
Ad-hoc meetings are convened when circumstances require.
The Board held 5 meetings during the financial year ended 31
March 2025 to consider, among other things, reviewing and
approving the quarterly, interim, annual results and payments of
dividends of the Group.

Notice of at least 14 days are given of a regular board meeting
to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Adequate
and appropriate information is circulated to the Directors in
advance of Board meetings or such period accepted by them.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
Board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely
manner and at least 3 days before the informed date of a
Board or Board committee meeting. Minutes of all Board and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection by the Directors at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice. Minutes of Board and committee
meetings record in sufficient detail the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of
minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments and
records within the period accepted by them after each meeting.
The Directors attend meetings in person or via telephone
conference, as permitted under the Articles of Association.

The Company Secretary attends the Board/Board committees
meetings. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board/Board committees
procedures are observed and advising the Board/Board
committees on compliance matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEE (5

Board meetings and attendance (Continued) EEegRREER(#)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings, BN EEFNFALFEEZC L% E=ZCLECSH
committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on  NMA2024F8A23H ETHRRBFAE ([2024KR K
23 August 2024 (the “2024 AGM’) for the year is set out below: BEXRE )N HELEHNOT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE/ERAY
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee 2024

meetings meetings meetings meetings AGM

Ezg ENZEE yHzEe R#zEg 2024

EE g3 g3 EE ] RRBEAE

Total Number of Meetings eERBAY 5 4 1 1 1

Executive Directors BTES

Wong Sai Chuen Tt 5/5 N/ATE R N/ATER 1/1 111

Hui Man Yee, Maggie e 5/5 NATEF N/AT N/A R 1/1
Independent Non-Executive BUKHTES

Directors

Cheung Chi Man Dennis RHEX 5/5 4/4 11 11 1

Law Chun Yat Btk 5/5 4/4 11 11 11

Siu Chi Wai E i 5/5 4/4 17 11 11

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number — #7:7: HEXBHEEEEELEZ2AE BREEFE 2 €%
of meetings a Director is entitled to attend. RE o
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the vyear,
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution into the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in CPD to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills by reading materials
and/or attending training courses, seminars or workshops
organized by professional bodies on corporate governance or
updated on laws, rules and regulations relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a Director.

The individual records of each Director who received training for
the year is summarised as follows:

BEE®(#)
EEvEIIRBESERRE

EXERIBRHEBRE -FRN EETHRIEARFE
B RARARAISNERER AREESERBREE
ERAETEBRE - WIN ARRIBEAEEZT2ER
BEXER ((FREXBR]) NERYEHEANE
Kt NHERBREEAGEE2AEARNEMTEZE
MTHEESELRER-

ER 2REFC2ARASLER SONEAH
CEEAREBEFAC BERBENER BRI
RoAR S A MM B R,/ %2 00k B2 H ALY
BHERR FHEXTRE UEESREHHENA
=Y e TR

RAFEAZEZBINSEZTNEACEB RN T

Course/
Seminar/
Workshop
organized by Total Total
Professional number Reading number
Body of hour(s) materials of hour(s)
HEXERE
HEBHWRR
Mg g BmER R 3 AR BEFR
Directors -
Executive Directors HITES
Wong Sai Chuen FiiF v 1 v 3
Hui Man Yee, Maggie FFE1E v 1 v 3
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis REX v 3 v 3
Law Chun Yat EiER v 57.8 v 3
Siu Chi Wai BEEE v 16 v 3
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TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board
is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties during the year ended 31 March 2025 as set out below:

° determined and reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

o developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee, the
nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees have been established with defined written terms of
reference which are available on the Stock Exchange’s website
and the Company’s website. All the Board committees should
report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations
made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The respective
role, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are
set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law
Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis, who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience as required by Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are (i) reviewing
the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group
and considering any significant or unusual items raised by
the financial officers of the Group or external auditor before
submission to the Board; (ii) reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor and making
relevant recommendations to the Board; and (iii) reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors and senior
management may also attend the meetings. The Company
Secretary prepared full minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached.
Sufficient resources are made available to the committee when
independent legal or professional advice is required. The Audit
Committee members meet with the external auditor twice a year.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2025:

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
and the annual results announcement of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024;

° reviewed the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the interim results announcement of the
Company for the 6 months ended 30 September 2024;

° reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the Company’s external auditor;

° reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems, and the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal audit function;

° reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and statutes, and
financial reporting matters; and

° reviewed the change of the Company’s external auditor
and the announcement regarding change of auditor.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board had no
disagreement with the Audit Committee’s view on the re-
appointment of the Company’s external auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised two executive Directors, Mr.
Wong, Ms. Hui, and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi
Wai, and chaired by Mr. Wong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection criteria

In selecting candidates for the directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as:

° the Company’s needs;

° the diversity on the Board;

o the integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge
of the candidate; and

° the amount of time and effort that the candidate will
devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry
out selection process when necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Board diversity policy

During the year, the Board adopted a Board diversity policy
setting out the approach to achieving diversity on the Board.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavors to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity
policy will be reviewed by the Board annually.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diverse
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Company will also take into account factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. Such policy will be reviewed from time to time to ensure
the appropriateness of determining the optimum composition of
the Board.

The Board has also set measurable objectives to achieve
board diversity, which includes the following: (i) the selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, (i) the Nomination
Committee will discuss and make discussion annually, and,
where necessary, reach consensus on measurable objectives
for achieving board diversity. It will provide its recommendation
to the Board for adoption, which includes at least one of the
Directors having appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise, and at
least one Director having intensive experience of the industry
on which the business of the Group is engaged in, (i) the
Board shall have at least one Director of a different gender.
Such Director shall possess the skills, experience and talent
necessary for the operation of the Company, and (iv) to achieve
and/or maintain gender diversity, the Nomination Committee
will recommend potential candidates for the Board so as to
realise gender diversity. The ultimate decision will be based
on objective criteria, merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, taking into consideration of
the Company’s corporate strategies and business operation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Board diversity policy (Continued)

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025:

° reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendations to the Board on
their appointments;

° assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

° reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 2024 AGM.

The Board considered that the aforementioned measurable
goals have been achieved satisfactorily during the year ended
31 March 2025. The Nomination Committee has conducted
an annual review of the board diversity policy and the
Nomination Committee is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the board diversity policy.

Workforce Diversity Policy

To achieve and/or maintain diversity (including gender diversity),
the Nomination Committee will identify and recommend
potential candidates to the Board so as to promote and
realise gender diversity. Specifically, when selecting potential
candidates for the Board, the Nomination Committee and the
Board will, inter alia, (i) consider the current ability, diversity and
representation level of different gender in the Board and senior
management when making recommendation on nominees and
the succession plan of the Board and senior management,
and (ii) take reference to the Code of Practice on Employment
published by Hong Kong Equal Opportunities Commission and
other manuals in other applicable jurisdictions from time to
time, so as to consider the standards in promoting diversity.
The Group adheres to the principle of fairness in the recruitment
procedures, and does not implement any restriction on gender,
ethnicity, nationality and territory. The Nomination Committee
adopts the above measures and reviews the profiles of the
potential candidates of Board members against the above
selection criteria in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Workforce Diversity Policy (Continued)

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including
senior management) for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
41:26. The Company considers that gender diversity is rather
balanced and has been achieved in its workforce generally. The
Group aims to continue maintaining a more balanced gender
diversity in the workforce by promoting such diversity during
recruitment.

For further details of gender ratio, together with the relevant
data, please refer to the disclosure in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of the Company which is published on
the same date as this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law
Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
pursuant to the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
the prevailing market conditions.

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025:

° reviewed and determined the Group’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

° assessed the performance of executive Directors;
No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter

23 of the GEM Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or
approved by the Remuneration Committee during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

° reviewed and recommended to the Board the terms of
remuneration packages and service contracts of Directors
and senior management; and

° ensured that no director or any of his/her associates are
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2025
and 2024 are set out in note 29(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of
the senior management (other than the Directors) for the year
ended 31 March 2025 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HKD)
FMEE (Ex)

2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001%2,500,000

Share interest of senior management
As at 31 March 2025, none of the senior management had any
interests in the shares of the Company.

Auditor’s remuneration

The external audit provides an objective assessment of the
financial information presented by the management, and is
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective
corporate governance. During the year, the fee charged
by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited for audit service was
HKD760,000.

There were no fees charged in respect of the non-auditing
services for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity
of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited and has recommended to the
Board the re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year at the
forthcoming AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an
integrated and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which includes the establishment of a
defined management structure with specified limits of authority,
and reviewing their effectiveness. The internal control system
is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or publication and ensuring compliance with
relevant legislation and regulation. The internal control system
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and
achievement of the Group’s objectives. The internal control
system (embedded in the operations of the Company and forms
part of the Company’s culture) includes:

° effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the change in the business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that is identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

° reliability of financial reporting; and
° compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Payment Procedures

Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review
and approve payment in respect of the capital and recurring
expenditures.

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going
concern basis, with reasonable and prudent judgement and
estimates as necessary. In preparing the accounts for the six
months ended 30 September 2024, and the year ended 31
March 2025, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

Risk Management

The Board together with senior management responsible
for monitoring and assessing risk annually, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Audit

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
the Group’s size and its structure is small and simple and the
Board is of the opinion that it is more cost effective to appoint
an external independent service provider to carry out internal
audit function for the Group if necessary. However, the Board
will continue to review the need for an internal audit function at
least annually.

Internal Control Review

During the year, the Company has engaged an external service
provider to carry out an annual review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk
management functions, and to resolve material internal control
defects. The review adopts a risk-based approach to create
and review the effectiveness of the internal control system and
includes the following works:

(i) to carry out a high level review on the internal control
system on new business and members of the Group under
the principles which cover major control aspects; and

(i)  to interview management and perform focused walk
through tests on the internal control system of members
of the Group on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and
procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial
information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company based
on the available information (normally from the news and
periodicals) about local and market’s dynamic movements and
their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced through
the on-the-job training and regular meetings to discuss cases
with potential risk.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)
Internal Control Review (Continued)
Identification, assessment and management:

° the head of each department, including the Finance
Department and the Board will be informed regarding the
factors that have an impact on the profit and price based
on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned responsible
person of the Company will handle relevant documents
and report to the Directors.

° as for matters as required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will present the
issues to the Board for review and discussion, and inform
Directors and relevant personnel that trading the shares of
the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

° generally, the Company Secretary will check with the
requirements as prescribed in Chapter 19 and Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules before execution of the proposed
transactions (including continuing connected transactions),
to assess whether the proposed transaction will trigger
the disclosures requirements either in announcements,
circulars and annual reports, and the need to obtain
Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its review report and made
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings to the Board
at the board meeting.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
and for the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has established a strong internal control
framework, put in place a set of stringent policies and code of
conduct to emphasis values on integrity, fairness, transparency
and accountability so as to stand against corruption and fraud.
During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its internal control report to the
Audit Committee, who is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system so as to achieve in develop effective control
activities and then mitigate the risks.

The Directors have strengthened corporate governance
practices, including the formalization of the reporting practice
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an ongoing basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group has no significant changes in the
Group’s assessment of risks (including ESG risks) and the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Board has reviewed on an annual basis (i) the changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks and the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment; (i) any significant control failings or weaknesses
which have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have,
a material impact on the Group’s financial performance or
condition; (iii) the extent and frequency of communication
of monitoring results to the Board which enables it to
assess control of the Company and the effectiveness of risk
management; and (iv) the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group to ensure that a
sound system is maintained and operated by the management
in compliance with the agreed procedures and standards.
The review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement (Continued)

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions are adequate), in
particular, for financial reporting GEM Listing Rules compliance,
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Group has complied with the relevant applicable
requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the
GEM Listing Rules on the disclosure of inside information. The
Group has disclosed inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable and kept strictly confidential before fully
disclosing to the public.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether
direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees,
agents or consultants or any persons or companies acting for
it or on its behalf. The Company adopts an anti-corruption
policy in promoting and supporting anti-corruption laws and
regulations, as well as assisting its employees in recognising
circumstances which may lead to or give the appearance of
being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct, so
as to avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to
promptly seek guidance if necessary.

The anti-corruption policy will be reviewed on a regular
basis, and any convicted cases will be reported to the Audit
Committee or the Board.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company expects and encourages employees of the
Group and those who deal with the Group (e.g., suppliers,
customers, creditors and debtors) to raise concerns to the
Audit Committee, in confidence and anonymity, any suspected
impropriety, misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group.
The Company adopts a whistleblowing policy that provide
(i) reporting channels; (ii) guidance on reporting possible
improprieties; and (iii) reassurances to whistleblowers of the
protection that the Group will extend to them in the formal
system.
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TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (continued)

Whistleblowing Policy (Continued)

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular
basis, and any suspected cases will be reported to the Audit
Committee.

Dividend Policy
The Group has a policy on payment of dividend. Details of the
dividend policy are set out on page 22 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on governance matters. As
at 31 March 2025, the Company Secretary of the Company
was Ms. Cheng Faye. Ms. Cheng has undertaken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training to update their skills
and knowledge during the year pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under paragraph K of the CG
Code.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of the Association, it is
stipulated that:

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. The extraordinary general meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)
Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business, 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars and
transfer office in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to
include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

a. Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM of the Company.

b.  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

C. Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Putting Shareholders enquires to
the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
ir@sanbase.com.hk, fax: (852) 2870 3813, or mail to 16/F, Loon
Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.
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TRERMSE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels
with Shareholders and investors. Apart from publication of
interim and annual reports, press announcement and release,
updated and key information of the Group are available on the
Company’s website at www.sclhk.com. The Company’s website
offers a communication channel between the Company and its
Shareholders and investors. The Company’s registrars serve the
Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

Under the Company’s Shareholders’ communication policy, the
Company will take steps to solicit and understand the views of
its Shareholders and other stakeholders (including employees,
customers, suppliers and investors). Shareholders may direct
questions and communicate their views on various matters
affecting the Company, request for publicly available information
and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
or management of the Company by mail to 16/F, Loon Kee
Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email to ir@sanbase.com.hk.

The annual general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Directors. Under normal circumstances, the chairman of
the Board and the independent non-executive Directors and
the chairmen of the Board committees will attend the annual
general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. The
external auditor of the Company will also attend the annual
general meetings to answer questions about the audit works,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and the independence of the auditor.

An annual review of the Shareholders’ communication policy
has been conducted by the Company during the year ended
31 March 2025. Several communication channels between
the Company and the Shareholders are there and they have
been working properly. There is no evidence of unsatisfactory
communication between the Company and Shareholders. The
Board is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy.
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TRERMSE

POLICY ON OBTAINING INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AND INPUT

The Board has adopted a policy on obtaining independent
views and input of the Company, details of which are as
follows:

The Board, Board committees or individual Directors may
seek such independent professional advice, views and input
as considered necessary to fulfill their responsibilities and in
exercising independent judgement when making decisions in
furtherance of their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense
(the “Mechanism”). The Mechanism is established to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and
should be disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report.

Independent professional advice shall include legal advice,
advice of accountants and other professional financial advisers
on matters of law, accounting, tax and other regulatory matters.

Despite having obtained any information or advice from the
Chairman of the Board and/or any independent professional
advisers through the Mechanism, the Directors are expected to
exercise independent judgement in forming their decisions.

All Directors are aware of this policy and the Mechanism.
An annual review of the Company’s policy on obtaining
independent views and input for the year ended 31 March
2025 has been conducted. The Board is satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the policy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2022 to adopt
the second amended and restated memorandum of association
and articles of association in order to comply with the GEM
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has published its memorandum of association and
articles of association on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE HEREARS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Report Overview

Sanbase Corporation Limited (“Sanbase” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively known as
the “Group”, “We” or “Our”), is pleased to present its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the “Report”) to stakeholders. This Report
describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures taken by
the Group from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period”, the “Year” or “2025”).

Reporting Scope

The Group is principally engaged in interior fitting-out services.
The Report mainly covers the Group’s head office in Hong
Kong and its operations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The reporting boundary is as the same as last year.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). During the
preparation for this Report, the Group applied the reporting
principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: A high priority is given to issues important to the
Group and its stakeholders. Throughout the interaction with
internal management, employees and external stakeholders,
the Group has identified various material sustainability issues
that need to be addressed. The preparation of this Report was
based on these material issues. Please refer to the Stakeholder
Engagement and Materiality Assessment sections for further
details.

Quantitative: Quantitative information is provided so that a
measurable target can be set and the ESG performance can be
evaluated objectively. Additional clarifications have been added
to the quantitative data in this Report to explain any standards,
methodologies and conversion factors used in calculating
emissions and energy consumption.

Balance: In this Report, the Group provides an unbiased
picture of its ESG performance by reviewing and disclosing the
achievements, areas for improvement, and plans.
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RE - #HE8RERRBSE

D

Consistency: This Report’s scope and preparation are —HM : ANBEMESEENMFEE F—FEEA -3
substantially consistent with the previous year, and explanations iR THESHE Nt E H 228 T OHIFEHA -
regarding data with a change in the scope of disclosure and

calculation methodologies are provided.

Forward-looking Statements B BE 4 PRt

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on AREBSAIEERL EERAEEHHEREK
the current expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, BATKENEBNMTHN S AITEL (H5t 788 12
and assumptions of the Group about the businesses and S FMBR-AEMRETEHRKEENRE T
the markets in which it and its subsidiaries operate. The TWHEK THEEMEMANEEEZILHNEAZATE-
forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of future Rt B4 R & [0 3R 7] 88 B2 7N 3R 45 A7 8 R &% Ko PR i
performance and is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and HZE®R-

factors beyond the control of the Group. Therefore, actual

outcomes and returns may differ from the assumptions and

statements in this Report.

Contact Us B 4% 3 1M
We welcome stakeholders to provide opinions and suggestions. HMFIEMHFHEHREER RER - BUIBE TR ARE -
You are welcome to provide valuable feedback on this ESG HE&NEAREXRMOALSERERENESES

Report or our sustainability performance at: B
Address: 16/F, Loon Kee Building, oA BE
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, BEE R 267-2755%
Hong Kong B ANE161E
Email: ir@sanbase.com.hk B - ir@sanbase.com.hk
Website: www.sclhk.com FEhe www.sclhk.com
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BOARD STATEMENT AND ESG

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board Statement

Having a robust ESG governance structure is crucial to
addressing sustainability issues as part of the Group’s corporate
agenda. As part of its efforts to achieve this goal, the Group
has established a top-down governance framework to ensure
that ESG is aligned with its strategic growth objectives for the
integration of ESG into business activities. The chart below
sets forth our governance structure consisting of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and the ESG Working Group.
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* |dentify and evaluate the
Group's ESG-related issues
and risks
PRI RFHE AR EHIRE
HENEBERERE RER

J

RO R e B

* Implement sustainability
policies, procedure and
initiatives
FHEAFEEREE - BF

Rfeik

e Collect ESG information
and data for ESG
disclosures
REBER - g REREREK
TR g REREEMN

iz

Subsidiaries’

Representatives

b)e NSl

ESG Working Group
RIE - HERERIFA
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The Board

The Board holds ultimate responsibility for ESG matters, serving
as the highest decision-making body, and periodically reviewing
the progress that has been made in achieving these goals and
targets. It is also the responsibility of the ESG-related policies
and strategies including assessing and managing sustainability-
related risks to ensure that an effective and efficient
sustainability risk management and internal control system is
in place. The Board conducts regular materiality assessments
concerning the views of different stakeholders, with the help
of the ESG Working Group to better manage the Group’s ESG
performance and identify potential risks.

ESG Working Group

The ESG Working Group, comprised of senior management
members from the Group and core representatives from its
subsidiaries, plays a vital role in facilitating the Board’s oversight
of ESG issues. This cross-functional group brings together
expertise from various levels and divisions of the organization to
support the Board in effectively managing ESG-related matters.

A key role of the ESG Working Group at the operational level is
to review compliance with laws and regulations related to ESG
issues. Management reports periodically to the Board about
ESG-related matters so that the Board can evaluate and revise
the strategies as necessary. The management team works
closely with subsidiaries’ representatives in collecting and
analyzing ESG data, monitoring ESG performance, preparing
the ESG report, and finally reporting to the Board. It has been
confirmed by the Board that it has reviewed and approved this
ESG Report. This Report has, to the best of its knowledge,
fairly presented the material issues and Group’s ESG approach.

D

Exg

EX2RRR HEREREENRKREERAN AR
BRRME YEHRESHEERZFARRERIE
RENER - EFQ@TAEHRRER. Zi/a\&a/u?fﬁﬁfﬁ
RIBR M - BREFE N EE A HEERABER
PAREOR G R K i3 RO AT 5 48 25 R AL B B T K 1 B4R %U
R -EFEARR e RERTIEEBE T
TR ARBHENRRETEZENG UE i

EEAEEMNRE HERERRRENMHFBERR -
B-HEeRERIEA
i&iﬁ HehERIFEHAEEsREEREKRE R

ENBARIMZODRRER EREESSEEIRE .

?iA&E./mF'EJ?EHﬁ?‘E%EEﬂEﬁH Z B e /N B
SHBSERRSEDBNEEND BREZSHN

E.ﬁi&ii e kEAEBEERESE-

RE @ hERTFEEZEEEMN — EARER
EEERR HENEABEEBERERANE RN
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the feedback of stakeholders on the Group’s
sustainable development. To enhance communication with
stakeholders, we encourage their active feedback on the
Group’s strategy via different channels. We are committed
to understanding and meeting stakeholders’ ever-changing
expectations to improve ESG performance and continue to
create greater value for the wider community.

FHhESH
AEBEERKNEHAKREATHERROIRESZR -
RIMEREFOENER RMAZBREFBRBTIARE
BEREEBAEENRR HMBNRTERILHE
FOEIHESES(CORE URERE HENE
ATHENEKRR URERZOHERFER/ERE ANE
B

Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expectations
B SHERE HE
Investors and Shareholders ° Annual General Meeting ° Compliant Operation
BREERKRR REBFERE BHEE
o Financial Statements o Information Disclosure
B Sk EEHRE
° Announcements and Circulars ° Financial Performance
NE KB K BRI
o Seminars ° Corporate Governance
et e BEES
Customers ° Company Website ° Quality Services
BP NIRRT BE IR
° Corporate Reports and ° Personal Safety
Announcements EAAZZ
rERERRSE e Business Ethics
e Hotline and Emails BEICEL
AR B e Privacy Protection
FLEBR#E
° Seamless Communication
) 2w
Suppliers/Subcontractors o Supplier Meetings and Interviews o Contract Performance
HrER, IR EHE HEm g =L EH CRIE$
o Periodic Assessments ° Business Ethics
T HART fly [EE3EE
° Open Tendering ° Win-win Cooperation
NHRBE ERaE
° Regular Meetings o Information Resources Sharing

EHg=

o Circulars and Manuals
FERNCPSE i)

° Company Website
NSIFER

66 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

EREREE
° Long-term Partnership

REIHBIE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RRE HERERRS

D

Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expectations
B E SHERE e
Employees o Employee Opinion Surveys ° Health and Safety
(== BEBR#AL fEEEL P
o Regular Meetings ° Equal Opportunities
EHER TERE
° Performance Appraisal ° Welfare and Benefits
BHEZ tetE A
° Employee Activities ° Career Development
BEE® BEZRE
o Professional Training ° Legal Rights and Interests
Bl BIEEER
Government/Regulators ° Corporate Reports and o Taxation Compliance
BT, 8 s Announcements Mg E 38
TERERRE e Employment Growth
e  On-site Inspections MEER
B e Regulatory Compliance
e Field Trips EEAR
i = 5 e Security Operations
e Tax Payments e
AT e  Business Ethics
FEERE
Community and the Media ° Community Involvement o Community Contributions
WS RS fE2E it = E
° Community Investment Programs ° Environmental Protection
HEREGE RIBRE
° ESG Report ° Transparent Information
RE -HERERME NFERERS
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFM

As part of its business development strategy and in line with {EAHEEBERKEN —LD WRBETEER K
industry practices, the Group identified 17 ESG issues and SBEEETI7TARRE HehELREE UREZS
prepared a questionnaire based on those issues. In relation FERFXAECMES - BRBERE HEehEREE
to each of the ESG issues, significant stakeholders and BEEMEMNENEEEBEUAREINS B EEE HiE
management and staff were asked to rate their importance. In = TR D - RAREF EZUZEETEH AERD
this Report, material issues refer to those issues that may have ¥BEE2EBELAEAFENHESNEELEEETEN
a significant impact on the Group’s business operations or have & T

a direct impact on its stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRSE

The Group collected responses, analyzed the results, and
presenting them in a materiality matrix. The matrix was reviewed
by the Board and senior management to ensure its alignment

AEBEREEE H»MER LEBE2UHEMP 2R -
EEHEEFE RS REEBETER URERLER
SENEBER B LAARRME-EBRKRED

with the Group’s business objectives and its representativeness. KB BIZE B BIZMHIES - REHM AEENES
It will serve as a guide for future strategies, targets, and IR -HE& R EAHERH W0 LA T 5B

communications. Below is a summary of the Group’s material
ESG issues during the Reporting Period, presented in the
following matrix:

The Group’s Materiality Matrix
rEBEEEMEME

5
T i
13. Customer Satisfaction
BEREE o
7)) 7. Employee Development and Training o
= 2% 2
E (R R EE S 15. Renovation Services
=) 5. Employment Practices o ang Quality
| REEEG BN AR R mE
O st
I ?i 4. Resource Use ° ° 6. Occupational
% "th AR (-] Health and Safety
< 2 10. Product Responsibility BERERTS
o =
l(T) g 17. Intellectual Property ERAE (-] (-]
Protection 9. Supply Chain Management
Sk SHEIERIE o © 09 s
W o
5 12. Community Development 8. Labour Standards 11. Anti-Corruption
< R EE BIE%E vl
% o 16. Information
= 1. Emission Management ) Security and
. HEE e Privacy Protection
2. C“mitf Change 3. Environmental Bz 2 WAL RE
RIREAL o and Natural
i Resource Protection
14. Advertising and gy i
Promotion ° RERARERRE
EEREE
S
St
Low IMPACT ON BUSINESS High
1K HEBHNTE =
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Environmental Targets

In order to continue implementing the green and low-carbon
economic transformation into the Group’s daily operations
and management policies, at the same time, make efforts to

REER

REBSHEEREAENRAZAEENHEFLEE
RERRRFT AKBHEHZRAREL BEE
BT HE2050F AIAE T B ERIRP M - (R ENEBRE

cope with global climate change, resolutely achieving “carbon RIFE(LF LN R LIEHOMNE TG KEEH T
neutrality Hong Kong by 2050”, and facilitate the evaluation of 7 0 T~ & H IR R B 1Z : LA20234F A& H ¥ F - F|20304F
effectiveness of the Group’s strategies and measures to mitigate  [&{K38E :
the impact of climate change, the Group has set environmental
targets at all levels, as shown below: It is targeted to reduce
intensity by 2030, with 2023 as the base year:
2023 2030 Targets 2025
Aspects (Base Year) (Against Base Year) (Results)
2023F 2030F B % 2025%
=i (BEF) (HEEFHL) (#8)
Energy consumption intensity &SR HEBE 1.27 | 5% 1.38 In progress
MWh/employee ke EE ERR
Non-hazardous waste intensity EEZBEZEYRE 0.02 | 5% 0.02 In progress
tonnes/employee AW/ BE EREA
GHG emissions intensity BERBHENEE 0.90 | 5% 0.87 In progress
tCO.e/employee AB-_ELHER EE ERES
A Environmental A. RiE
We actively adopt environmental protection measures BMBEGRIIRRIE G BEEBEEHIREE
to tackle the environmental impacts generated by our KOEE - BBRITREEEAF A58 —HH
operations. In line with its commitment to environmental REREMANCELERER BRABTHKEGEE
stewardship, the Group has consistently integrated BNNRRREERE AEESEREHERE

environmental protection into its operational and
management practices. By implementing green operations
and enhancing environmental management processes,
the Group aims to mitigate the environmental impact
associated with its development activities. These
efforts have been further reinforced by obtaining the
ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management System
certification, which aligns our environmental management
practices with internationally recognized standards. This
accreditation serves as a testament to our dedication to
responsible environmental practices and sustainability.

/ﬁﬁﬂf&iﬂaﬁw £ o 3F B & 151S014001:20153%

EEBERAE HMNREEEEEHRKER
3 E’mﬂ%h BoE—TPEBBAAEEZS INE
@OL REFHTHRMBEOREBETLNRR]T
BMAFERE -

HEeEMAR 20256EHE G9
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Emissions

During this Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with environmental-related
laws and regulations in relation to air and greenhouse
gases (“GHG”), emissions, discharges into water and land
discharges, and the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste
Disposal Ordinance, Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
(General) Regulation, Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance, the Water Pollution Control (General)
Regulations, Buildings Energy Efficiency Ordinance, the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC, and the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes of the PRC.

Air Emissions

Since the company’s vehicle has not been utilised
since November 2021, the emissions resulting from the
consumption of diesel and petrol are not applicable during
this Reporting Period.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG’) Emissions

The primary contributors to the Group’s greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions are the indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from purchased electricity. To effectively address
GHG emissions, the Group has implemented various
measures focused on optimizing energy usage, as outlined
in the “Energy Management” section below.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE -HERE

BEBk
RARE M AEE W ARBREMEER LR
ERE(EERB]) BER - KRR
EXEELETEEDERN e XAEEES
BAFENRERBERMERNERERTH -
ZELERERBRBEIERRL (ERTLEE GG
Bl EEMREGRD) (EWRE ({L2EY)
(=RIBRO) - CREBEZETHE) - OKIFH
EHl(—R)BOD)  CGEEDRRE KD
(PEARANMBEREREL) (PEARHK
FBIK )T 2BIEE) R (P E AR LB E 88 EE
Y5 RIRIBIIRE) o

=

H

JES IR
R B2021F 11 AR EFAQFER  RNAR

o SRR 4 e B0 e T 2 9 S B
T A -

mERAE ([BERE]) K
AEBEERBHMNIZERRERINBENE
ERRZER (BE2) - SERBREEREH
MEE AEEER T ZEEE EHEBLER
A R TIX[EERER] — &

Indicators' Unit 2025 2024
it Bh 20254 20244
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO.e - -
ERAEREBHM(HE) YNk s
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO.e 58.22 63.63
MEAEREIHNR (HE2) AW _A(tiEE
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) tCO,e 58.22 63.63
BERBHENEE (BEIMEBE2) ARSI E =
Total GHG emission intensity? tCO.e/employee 0.87 0.94

BERBHREERE?
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Notes:

1. Emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and is based on, but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the HKEX, the latest released average carbon dioxide
emission factor for national electricity in China, published
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of PRC in
December, 2024 and the “2024 Sustainability Report”
published by Hong Kong Electric Investments Limited.

2. As at 31 March 2025, the total number of full-time
employees under the Reporting Scope of the Group was
67 (as at 31 March 2024: 67). This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

Waste Management

Considering the nature of the Group’s business, no
hazardous waste was generated during the Reporting
Period. However, if any hazardous waste were to be
generated in the future, the Group is committed to
engaging qualified waste collectors to handle and dispose
of such waste in accordance with applicable environmental
laws and regulations.

Regarding non-hazardous waste, the Group’s main waste
stream resulting from its business operations is office
paper. To minimize the environmental impact associated
with non-hazardous waste, the Group emphasizes proper
waste management practices. This includes implementing
recycling programs and ensuring responsible disposal
methods are in place. By promoting recycling initiatives
and encouraging responsible paper usage, the Group
actively works towards waste reduction and contributes
to sustainable resource management. The usage of office
paper during the Reporting Period was as below:

D

Mat

1. HREBETDUN-S(REERY WIREBEERR
PHERE R ML R BEERTIHES
EHEN CRERER TS CESHNREE
Y BEEXSGHAAEN (MAFERNRE e
RERRE -k —  RIBEERESIEZERIE
g1y~ EAREME AEREIRE HH2024F 124
BEHAHNTERE2EE N S FHEERA
FTURBEENREBR AR TERN (2024F
AEBEERRE) -

2. HZE2025%3A31H - AEEFEHEANN R
EEME A67 A (B E2024F3A31H 67A) °
ZEBTARGTEEME EEE-

BEEYEE

ERAEENEBLEED RESHEAREES
EEEEM -ARM WRBRELTNEETER
Y AEEAFEEFAERNBERMKRES
RIRMABRBZRELEMEBIEERY -

EBEEERYIE AKEXBEEELENTE
BEMRBARBE BT RAREME D EEER
MHRENFE AEBRBALENERZYE R
FE-EERERCWE S REREAAEEN
BE IR 73 0% - BB B B G Bl K BB B BT
AR AEERBBORBMDERY BAF
BEREEFELEM - RBSHEA HLIBE
MERBRET

Category of Waste Unit 2025 2024

FEEYHIR = X1v2 2025%F 20244

Total Non-hazardous Waste

BEBRYEE

o Office Paper tonnes 1.55 1.35
NI N

Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity? tonnes/employee 0.02 0.02

BEEREYRELE? NP3

HEREEMAT 20258EHE 7




The Group has designed its offices to facilitate waste
separation and recycling at the source, creating a green
workplace environment. This proactive approach aims to
minimize waste generated during operations by promoting
the principles of reduce, reuse, and recycle, as outlined
in the Environmental Protection Policy. To further enhance
employees’ environmental awareness, the Group displays
environmental messages on office equipment, emphasizing
the importance of environmental issues and encouraging
responsible behavior. By incorporating these initiatives,
the Group strives to foster a culture of sustainability
and contribute to a greener and more environmentally
conscious workspace.

To establish a “paperless” operating environment, the
office has made full use of the online system. Employees
of the Group were encouraged to minimize waste through
the following measures:

o Avoid printing and copying documents as much as
possible;

o Use double-sided printing and photocopying
whenever possible;

o Reuse old envelopes and recycle used paper,
cartons, and folders; and

o Reduce the use of disposable paper products.

Sewage Discharge

Since the Group’s business activities do not consume a
significant quantity of water, the Group does not generate
a substantial amount of sewage during daily operations.
Hence, this disclosure does not apply to the Group.

Use of Resources

To manage resource usage and minimize the use of non-
essential materials, the Group has implemented the
Environmental Protection Policy and Sustainability Policy.
These policies serve as guiding principles for the Group’s
commitment towards reducing its environmental impact.
Through daily operations, the Group actively seeks ways
to enhance and improve environmental practices. By
continuously striving for sustainability, the Group aims to
minimize its ecological footprint and contribute to a more
environmentally operation mode to all aspects of its work.
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Energy Management BEIREHE

Electricity consumption in our office is the principal RANERE EﬁfFﬁ%f&%ﬁﬂPﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\]IgﬁE%
type of energy used in our business operations. This A CHABEARARME RBH HERER
encompasses the energy required to power office A ERMFERRER Tﬂ#ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ’] NERERE
equipment, lighting, heating and cooling systems. By BPAEAL IR MEREEAFEN A U
understanding our electricity usage, we can identify BAOBEMEBEBHORERERE  AEENEREET
opportunities for increased efficiency and implement ERONNE

sustainable practices to reduce our overall energy
consumption. The Group’s energy consumption details are

as follows:
Category of Energy Consumption Unit 2025 2024
EENGUERE Wl B 20254 20244

Direct Energy Consumption

B RERH
i Petrol MWh - -
i KFES

Indirect Energy Consumption

B e RH

° Purchased Electricity MWh 92.17 97.25
INEE S K EBF

Total Energy Consumption MWh 92.17 97.25

RRHERAE JK Iy

Total Energy Consumption Intensity? MWh/employee 1.38 1.45

BERHERE? kEEEE
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We have established guidelines and initiatives aimed at

promoting energy savings as below:

Emphasised the

maintenance of electronic

equipment to ensure

optimal performance

SRIBEFREUEE
LAREIR SR 1 AR

Installation of LED lighting
systems in all our offices
RETEMRERE
LEDHRFA R £

Our energy-saving
measures

M EFRERE e

Set a recommended room
temperature range of 24 to 26
degrees Celsius to balance

comfort and energy
conservation.

EETRRTIE24E

26MKE 2 - LASR
JERAT i R AP E -

By implementing these energy-saving practices and
continuously reviewing their effectiveness, the Group
is committed to reducing its environmental impact and
working towards a more sustainable future.

Water Management

Due to the inclusion of water usage in the tenancy fees
for the Group’s offices, it is currently not feasible for the
Group to provide specific water consumption data. As
there is no sub-meter in place to record water usage
separately, it becomes challenging to track and report
on water consumption at a detailed level. During the
Reporting Period, we have no difficulty in obtaining
suitable water sources due to the geographical location of
our office. Still, the Group strives to reduce unnecessary
water consumption by turning off taps when not in use
and reporting leaking faucets immediately to the estate
management office.

Use of Packaging Materials

In view of the business nature of the Group, there is no
packaging material used by our Group. The packaging
material is not considered a material ESG issue to the
Group.
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Encourage staff to turn off
office equipment when
not in use
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Although the nature of our Group’s business does not have
significant environmental and resource-related impacts, we
maintain a strong focus on monitoring the environmental
footprint associated with our fitting-out services. In
our construction projects, we have implemented an
environmental management system that aligns with the
requirements of ISO 14001:2015. This certification serves
as evidence that our environmental management practices
meet internationally recognized standards.

Indoor Air Quality Control

To address potential indoor air quality issues arising from
construction projects, the Group implements various
precautionary measures. One such measure involves
constructing barriers around the location where odors
are present, isolating it from other parts of the building.
This prevents air from moving between the work area and
occupied spaces. Furthermore, the Group ensures that
dusty materials such as dirt and construction debris, are
properly covered with tarps or other approved methods
to reduce dust in the air. To raise awareness about safety,
the Group displays dust respirator safety labels on the
construction site. This serves as a reminder for everyone
to wear masks, if necessary, to protect themselves from
air pollutants.

By implementing these measures, the Group aims to
mitigate the impact of construction-related pollutants and
contaminants on indoor air quality, creating a safer and
healthier environment for occupants during construction
projects.

Noise Control

The Group is aware that during its operations, there
may be noise generated, and the construction activities
represent the biggest source of the noise. Any person who
at any place between the hours of 7 p.m. and 7 a.m., or
at any time on a public holiday, uses, or causes or permits
to be used, any powered mechanical equipment for the
purpose of carrying out any construction work other than
percussive piling with which a construction noise permit is
not in force commits an offence. During all constructions,
the Group and its subcontracting partners strictly adhere
to the laws defined by the Environmental Protection
Department.

D

RERBAER
BEALENESHETSTHREREREK
HEEAFE BMIEFTERENBMOEER
BHRENFE - RMEERBEPRANIRE
BIEEAXFAISO 14001:2015H) B o LR & &
BAREMOREEEESTEBRBERAIMNZE-

EAEREEER

EREERBEELNBEENEZEREREER
AEEERSBEEGER - BT —BERS &
ERHBAHFERZERE LKL EZEY
MEME MR BRI ERAETIFREIE
R EE 2 FERE -t o AR B RERE A
Pk R ERA N EEE EESEME (10
RERBEWRR) BEZRTHRE - BRES
Z2EH AEEETIHW FRTHENENT S
R BIEFMBEAMBOSHIRE EH8ERFR
HEAGRBARSRYBEE -

BBAERZSER ARESEREZEMRS
RRFESARPHENERERNTE NERRA
BMARERAEERE REEMIIRE

BRER

AEEERD EHZERBRET AHEEELR
EMELEHEHZANBEZIRR - EFMART
FIREZER EF7E SR ARBRBAOEMERE
R ER R SEFFER  (E % E
RBETTAFERNITEIENRZETIR I
EERZEFRER ABEEZTIREBENAX
BEEREFFAIE NBLE-EMARIBES
REBRERAHEAERHEBERETRER
& BB FI P HII E BOE R ©
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The Group requires our subcontractors to choose quieter
construction equipment and provide their employees with
earmuffs for working on construction sites. The noise level
of a building should be measured, and when the sound
pressure level exceeds 85 decibels (A), it is required that
a warning label be attached to noisy machines in the
hearing protection zone and a safety sign be displayed
in that area. When any environmental non-compliance is
observed on the construction site, our staff and Registered
Safety Officers will immediately rectify the situation and
implement corrective measures to mitigate the problem
immediately.

Climate Change

The Group recognizes the escalating risks and challenges
posed by climate change and global warming, which have
the potential to adversely impact its business operations.
The effects of climate change, such as extreme weather
events, rising sea levels, and changes in temperature
patterns, can have significant implications for various
industries and sectors.

According to the reporting framework developed by IFRS
S2, climate-related risks are typically divided into physical
and transition risks. The Group has incorporated climate
change-related risks into its enterprise risk management
process and has identified and mitigated potential risks.
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In the event of extreme weather events, such as
typhoons, heavy rain and a persistent heatwave, we
may experience delays in our construction works and
physical damage to our construction sites, premises
and employees as a result. The Group’s capacity
and productivity will be reduced under extreme
weather conditions as the safety of our employees
is threatened, and the operational sites might be
damaged, which leads to a direct negative impact on
the Group’s revenue.

As a precaution against extreme weather events,
the Group has adopted appropriate measures.
Arrangements have been made for working during
typhoons and rainstorms. Aside from this, the Group
also invested in insurance coverage for its employees
and properties to protect the interests of all parties
involved and reduce the risk of financial loss.

Transition Risks
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In response to global carbon neutrality, the
Group expects significant changes in regulations,
technology, and the market due to climate change.
These changes may involve stricter national policies
and listing rules, as well as the introduction of
environmentally-related taxes. For example, some
countries have introduced taxes to encourage
companies to reduce their GHG emissions and
energy usage. Stricter environmental laws could
increase the risk of lawsuits for companies, raise
compliance costs, and harm the Group’s reputation.

In response to transition risks, we constantly monitor
the updates of environmental regulations and global
trends on climate change to avoid cost increments,
non-compliance fines or reputational risks due to the
violation of laws. In addition, we have been taking
comprehensive environmental protection measures,
including energy saving, water conserving and GHG
emissions reduction.
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Social

Employment

Sanbase believes that employees are its most valuable
asset and key to business growth and sustainable
development. The Group knows that the knowledge, skills,
and dedication of its employees directly contribute to its
success and ability to achieve long-term sustainability.
Sanbase focuses on creating a supportive and inclusive
workplace that promotes employee well-being, growth,
and involvement. By prioritizing job satisfaction and
professional development, the Company aims to attract
and keep top talent, boost productivity, and foster a
positive company culture.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment, and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare, that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but not
limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Law of the PRC, and the Labour Contract Law of
the PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has established specific procedures regarding
recruitment, which are outlined in the Employee
Handbook. These procedures cover various aspects,
including the recruitment application process, the steps
involved in the recruitment process itself, as well as any
prohibitions and responsibilities that applicants and the
Group must adhere to. The Human Resources Department
will recruit through multiple channels, including online
recruitment, job fairs, referrals etc. Shortlisted candidates
will be interviewed by the Human Resources Department
as well as by heads of departments.
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A performance management system has been established
to identify each employee’s skills and abilities. This system
provides a clear framework for employee promotions and
compensation, ensuring fairness and alignment with the
interests of both employees and the Group. Additionally,
appraisal results are utilized to develop tailor-made
employee development plans and to establish the Group’s
annual targets. All employees are required to sign their
performance appraisal forms, which are then kept in their
personnel files. An ongoing review of all documents is
conducted to ensure they remain relevant, and employees
are updated regularly to align with any changes in the
Group’s needs and requirements.

The Group has a zero-tolerance policy for unfair
employee dismissals. To manage employee dismissals
and transitions effectively, the Group has a Movement
Procedures Policy. This policy ensures that these
processes are executed smoothly and with minimal
disruption to productivity. A fair dismissal procedure will
be followed, and all issues will be clearly communicated
before formal dismissal to prevent conflicts. Additionally,
when employees resign, the Human Resources
Department will conduct an exit interview to understand
the reasons for resignation, the opinions and improvement
suggestions for the Group.
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 67 full-time
employees during the Reporting Period. The breakdown is

shown below:

Breakdown of Employees
BITHE

Total

By Gender
Male
Female

By Age

Age 30 or below
Age 31 to 50
Above 50

By Employment Category
Senior Management Staff
Middle Management Staff
General Staff

By Geographical Location
PRC
Hong Kong

Bt

BRI B2
St

e

RERE S
305 A T
31E508%
508% A

EREREERNE D
SREEAB
RPEERAR
—KEE

BRwBEVES S
B
&t

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall employee
turnover rate was 6%. The breakdown of employees
according to gender group, age group, and geographical

location are as follows:

Employee Turnover Rate®
& Bk %8

Overall

By Gender
Male
Female

By Age

Age 30 or below
Age 31 to 50
Above 50

By Geographical Location
PRC
Hong Kong
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2025 2024
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26 28
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46 50
12 7

11 5
34 25
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12 12
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Note:

3. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees
leaving the company: the number of employees left during
the Reporting Period/total number of employees as at 31
March 2025 * 100%.

Compensation and Benefits

Based on an evaluation of the employees’ performance,
the Group provides fair and competitive remuneration
compared with market standards. The remuneration
package shall be adjusted periodically according to the
individual work performance, contribution, and market
environment. The Group has developed comprehensive
systems to retain talents and strengthen employees’
sense of belonging, including the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes for Hong Kong employees as well as the
Social Security Provident Fund Management Systems for
mainland employees.

Employees of the Group are not only provided with a basic
salary, but they are also offered comprehensive benefits:

° All qualified employees are entitled to join the
Employees’ Compensation Insurance and Sanbase
Medical Scheme;

° Employees travelling outside Hong Kong on
business are covered by the Group’s Business Travel
Insurance;

° All overtime work is entitled to meals and
transportation allowances for labour that exceeds
the legal working hours; and

o Employees are provided with external training
sponsorship and a discretionary bonus at the end of
the year.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

In the Employee Handbook and Employment Agreement,
the Group stipulates the working days and rest time
for employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Labour Law of the PRC and the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance.
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In addition, the Group has effectively protected its
employees’ legal rights to rest and vacation time. All
qualified employees are entitled to pay annual leave
following the Employment Agreement. The Group also
provides various types of leave for its employees,
including statutory holidays and other paid holidays
such as maternity leave, paternity leave, birthday leave,
compassionate leave and examination leave.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group’s recruitment procedures are designed to
uphold principles of fairness, equality, and transparency,
in full compliance with applicable national and local laws
and regulations. To prevent discrimination during the
hiring process, the Group has outlined relevant policies
in the Employee Handbook. These policies ensure that
all candidates are treated fairly and without prejudice,
irrespective of their race, family status, religion, nationality,
disability, age, marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, union membership, or political affiliation.

If any employee faces intimidation, humiliation, bullying,
or harassment, including sexual harassment, they have
several options to report these incidents. They can report
it to their supervisors or file complaints directly with the
Department Head. The Group is dedicated to creating
a safe and respectful workplace, and these reporting
channels are designed to ensure that any misconduct is
promptly addressed, and appropriate actions are taken. It
is important for employees to feel comfortable reporting
any mistreatment, as the Group takes these issues
seriously and is committed to maintaining a workplace
free from harassment and discrimination.

Employee Communication Channels

The Group’s management actively fosters employee
engagement through various management mechanisms
and communication channels, such as emails,
questionnaires, and meetings. In accordance with
the guidelines outlined in the Employee Handbook,
employees are encouraged to report any irregularities
they come across to their supervisors or directly to the
Human Resources Department. The Group places great
importance on addressing such reports and ensures
that all cases are handled confidentially. Investigations
are conducted to gather relevant information and take
appropriate actions to address the reported irregularities.
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Health and Safety

The Group adopts a people-centered management
approach and is dedicated to ensuring that employees
are working in a safe and comfortable environment. This
includes reducing potential health and safety risks and
implementing effective safety measures in the workplace.

The Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities with
zero fatality rates for three consecutive years (including the
Reporting Period). During the Reporting Period, the Group
has not lost any working days due to work injury. The
Group was also not aware of any material non-compliance
with employment-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the PRC and the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases Law of the PRC.

Health & Safety Indicators Unit
ERERET2ER Etiva
Work-related fatalities Numbers
ITHESETER B
Fatality rate %
T

Lost days due to work injury Days
IEBEARRE RER
Work-related injury Cases
I% (&3

Promoting Healthy Lifestyle

The Group has consistently promoted a work-life balance
by organizing various activities for employees from time
to time, such as birthday parties, fitness programmes,
annual dinners, boat trips, and Christmas parties for
employees to enhance their well-being. Moreover, we offer
our employees with a variety of leave options, including
maternity leave, paternity leave, jury leave, compensation
leave, and study and examination leave. This helps our
employees manage their work and personal responsibilities
effectively.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Ensuring a safe working environment for all employees
is a top priority for the group. The group fully complies
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
occupational health and safety in jurisdictions where
it operates. A detailed set of internal policies and
procedures has been created for assessing, monitoring,
and minimizing occupational health and safety risks
within the organization. The Health and Safety Plan
details information regarding various aspects, such as
the responsibilities of individuals working with a safety
organization, the health and safety training, the personal
protection programme, inspections of hazardous
conditions, incident investigation, and emergency
preparedness. For those employees traveling abroad
for work, the Group will arrange travel insurance, and
employees should contact the Human Resources
Department in advance for the arrangement of business
travel insurance.

Occupational health and safety management systems
have been implemented in our construction sites and were
certified to follow the requirements of ISO 45001:2018
standard (provision of renovation and fitting out works).
Sanbase will implement appropriate procedures and
conduct emergency drills every six months. Foreseeable
emergencies include, but are not limited to, fires,
rainstorms, typhoons, landslides, and hazardous
substance spills. Additionally, the Group has created
self-learning pamphlets and booklets for employees,
subcontractors, and vendors. These materials outline work
duties, general instructions, and preventive measures,
such as guidelines on Site Safety Measures for Working
in Hot Weather and Guidelines for Work-Above-Ground
Safety.

84 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - #HE8RERRBSE

BEBFRL T

BRAMBEEIRE -—BEZE2NTIFRER

SENEZEK ARBET2ETHELEMEN
MBI R R 207 M AR ADERIER © B A
EHE-—EFMANABRELIERF ARG &
ARBERIEBANBERERZZ2RR B
XRFEZE2FIHREENS T ENFARGE
MEZZABTHENEANE T BENLEH
g EAREFE ERARNBRE FHAER
EREH - HREAIHBENET AREKRE
RHRITRBR -BETRIERNEANE RSB E
BRI IRERR

BERFEZ2EERAHKOCRRMANKETIRS
B KRR ERFAISO 45001:20181Z HHy E 5k
(RHBAIREETIR) RELEESBEAR M
EREREBENEFRTNEALET—KESR-
ABEENZZBEREBEEETERAL - BF-
R ILREBERERMERE MIN KEE
MEEBI -RAMEBRHERRIEFEZ/ MM+
FMH-ZEMBNBIERST —RABRED
5 o0 (EBEESVKRR T LIEM Tib3E5) K& (B
MIEMZ2IES) -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - #HE8RERRBSE

Construction Site Safety

Ensuring safety at construction sites is a top priority for
the group, given that a significant portion of its operations
occur on-site. To address this, the Group has formed a
Site Safety Committee led by the Project Manager. The
committee composes representatives from management, a
Registered Safety Officer, subcontractor supervisors, site
supervisors, and worker representatives. All workers on
the site must have a valid Construction Industry Mandatory
Basic Safety Training Certificate (‘MBSTC”) and registered
construction worker cards. To maintain a safe working
environment at all project sites, we provide construction
workers with appropriate protective equipment, including
safety helmets, goggles, safety shoes, earplugs, and dust
masks.

According to our in-house safety rules, workers from the
site who repeatedly infringe on our safety requirements
will be suspended from work until the rectification is
made. Visitors are provided with safety helmets and are
accompanied by supervisory staff. Site safety inspections
shall be conducted by the Registered Safety Officer on
a regular basis to identify defects, unsafe conditions and
malpractices, and any breaches of the safety plan. An
accident must be reported in every instance. For serious
accidents reported, construction work shall be ceased
until investigation work has been carried out. The Group
complies with relevant laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Factories and Industrial Undertakings
Ordinance (Section 6A & 6B), Construction Sites (Safety)
Regulations, and Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Dangerous Substances) Regulations of Hong Kong.

Furthermore, the Group actively identifies, evaluates, and
manages potential sources of hazards and occupational
health and safety deficiencies that could lead to accidents
during its operations. This involves the collaborative
effort of the Registered Safety Officer to conduct
risk assessments for upcoming routine activities and
document all pertinent information in the risk assessment
sheet. The risk assessments are periodically reviewed
every six months, and if there are significant changes in
circumstances, a re-assessment is conducted to ensure
the continued effectiveness of the safety measures.
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Development and Training

The Group is committed to offering a diverse range of
training opportunities designed to help employees develop
new skills and knowledge tailored to their individual needs
and the demands of the business. Department managers
play a crucial role in engaging their teams in relevant
training activities, ensuring that both the management
team and employees remain informed about industry
trends. These training initiatives effectively promote
continuous learning and professional growth.

To meet the diverse needs of all employees, the Group
has enhanced its internal training system by offering
not just induction training but also targeted sessions on
essential topics such as fire safety, housekeeping rules,
protection against falling objects, electrical safety, and
the safe use of hand-held power tools. Additionally, we
encourage employees to provide feedback on training
sessions, enabling us to continually improve our offerings.

Safety training is essential for preventing accidents and
raising safety awareness among employees. As outlined
in our Health and Safety Plan, we provide mandatory
training in site management and front-line supervisors.
This training includes emergency response protocols
and guidelines for construction activities. The Registered
Safety Officer reviews the training programme quarterly
to ensure it meets the evolving needs of our construction
sites and introduces new training topics as necessary.
All safety and environmental induction training sessions
are documented and considered during performance
appraisals. Our goals is to foster a culture of safety and
competence, enabling employees to feel confident in
their roles and equipped to handle challenges effectively.
This investment in employee development ultimately
contributes to a safer and more productive workplace for
everyone.

The Group formulates the following year’s training plan
at the end of each year according to its business needs.
The Group will also make appropriate adjustments to
the training courses according to the training needs and
targets.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved an REEEE AEBEEEZIEBE104% (2024
overall training percentage of 104% (2024: 156%), F:156% ) * 21018 /N (20244 : 2711& /N )
providing 210 hours (2024: 271 hours) of training with an M BRZIEE FH T§§?73 1 31E /)N B
average training hour of approximately 3.13 hours (2024: (20244 : 4.0418 /B ) B9 ES 5l o R EE B 2 N5
4.04 hours) per employee trained. The percentage of total METHETHEMNEDL ZZD—I—

employees who took part in training in the Group is as

follows:

Percentage of Employees Received Training* 2025 2024

EXiEEB S 20254 20244

Overall BmAE 104% 156%

By Gender %1 B &8l 5

Male B 95% 154%

Female pegis 119% 161%

By Employment Category REEBERE S

Senior Management Staff SREEE 82% 300%

Middle Management Staff PARERERE 103% 128%

General Staff —REE 118% 157%

The breakdown of total employees by gender and EHRREBERAESZIEERMELT

employment categories is as follows:

Breakdown of Employee Training® 2025 2024
X HlfE B AR AR° 20254 20244
By Gender B4R E 5

Male B4 56% 57%

Female g3 44% 43%

By Employment Category RESERE S

Senior Management Staff RREIEE 13% 14%*

Middle Management Staff HPRERERE 50% 31%*

General Staff —RIEE 37% 55%*

Notes: Bt -

4. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees trained 4. HEZJEIE HMAR=ZIETH &=
= number of employees trained/total number of employees 20255 3A31HMAAE T#* 100% st EiH 1A
on 31 March 2025 * 100%. Formula for calculating the FIETES J:I:E’] NN =TEIEEHEBIF 2 MFINE
percentage of employees in the relevant categories = ETIH HEEHEMNTHEE TE* 100% °

Employees in the specified category who took part in
training/total number of employees in the specified category
*100%.
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5. Formula for calculating the breakdown of employees trained
= number of employees trained under x category/total
number of employees trained on 31 March 2025 * 100%.
Formula for calculating the breakdown of employees in
relevant categories = Employees in the specified category,
who took part in training/Employees who took part in
training * 100%.

The average number of training hours completed per
employee by gender and employment category are as
follows:

Average Number of Training Hours (hours)®

T IR B (/) B e

Overall 4 BF B

By Gender % B &8l 5
Male i

Female Z

By Employment Category REEERES
Senior Management Staff SREEE
Middle Management Staff HPRERE
General Staff —REE

Note:

6. Formula for calculating average training hours per
employee = Total number of training hours/Total number
of employees. Formula for calculating average training
hours of employees in relevant categories = Total number
of training hours for employees in the specified category/
Number of employees in the specified category.

* The data has been restated due to an updated calculation
model.
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Labour Standards
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group maintains a strong commitment to compliance
with all relevant laws and regulations, prohibiting the
use of child or forced labour in the workplace. The
Group has created a detailed Employee Handbook to
ensure candidates are of legal working age, the Human
Resources Department checks their identity documents,
such as academic certificates, ID cards, and hometown
information, during the hiring process. By conducting
these identity checks, the Group takes proactive measures
to verify the eligibility of candidates and uphold its
commitment to ethical employment practices. Employees
are instructed to report any violations directly to the
Human Resources Department and senior management
for immediate verification, the Group will immediately
investigate, terminate the labor contract and discipline the
employees involved. If necessary, the Group will further
improve the labour mechanism for violations.

Furthermore, the Employment Agreements and job
descriptions clearly outline the working hours, location,
assigned tasks, and primary responsibilities to ensure
that employees are not compelled to perform tasks that
fall outside the scope of their roles. To eliminate any
potential for forced labour, the following steps have been
implemented:

° Establish comprehensive policies that explicitly
prohibit forced labor and outline the consequences
for violations.

° If employees are required to work beyond their
regular working hours, any overtime work is voluntary
and compensated in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations.

o Continuously collect employees’ feedback to
identify and address any issues related to working
conditions.

These practices safeguard against forced overtime and
uphold the rights and well-being of the employees.
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The Group also prohibits any punishments and behaviours
involving verbal abuse, physical punishment, physical
abuse, oppression, sexual harassment (including
inappropriate language, postures and physical contact),
etc., against employees for any reason. If any employee is
discovered has violated the Group’s regulations, the Group
will terminate the probationary period or the Employment
Agreement immediately under Employee Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with child and forced labour-
related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, and the Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC.

Supply Chain Management
Supplier Management

Supplier management is an indispensable part of robust
operations. The Group looks forward to long-term
cooperation with suppliers for sustainable and innovative
development. It provides detailed provisions regarding
supplier classification, inspection, management, rights and
interests in the Subcontracting and Procurement Policy
and Code of Ethics. During the Reporting Period, we
worked with 268 major suppliers: 22 from the PRC and
246 from Hong Kong.

Ensuring supplier and subcontractor quality is vital for
providing exceptional service to customers. To support
a responsible and dependable supply chain, the Group
has established a standardized selection process. This
procedure assesses multiple aspects, including service
quality, responsiveness to concerns, qualifications, and
company profile. Following a thorough evaluation process,
the most suitable suppliers and subcontractors are
selected and documented in a qualified vendor list.

Additionally, periodic evaluations are carried out to ensure
that suppliers and subcontractors continue to meet our
standards and requirements. As part of every project, a
site environmental inspection is conducted to promote
sustainability. Designated personnel are responsible for
assessing various factors, including waste management,
water conservation, noise control, energy efficiency, and
chemical management, etc.
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During fitting-out activities, suppliers and subcontractors
are strictly monitored by the Group. If any breach of
contract occurs, we may hire temporary staff or other
approved suppliers, and subcontractors may be assigned
to handle the project and assume responsibility so that
our services run smoothly. During the Reporting Period, all
of the Group’s suppliers were engaged under the above
practices relating to supplier management.

Green Procurement

The Group is committed to integrating sustainable
development into its business model. To reduce the
carbon footprint associated with the procurement process,
the Group prioritizes local sourcing. By relying on suppliers
and subcontractors primarily located in Hong Kong,
the Group minimizes greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
resulting from material deliveries and transportation. This
approach not only contributes to mitigating environmental
impact but also supports local economic development.
By sourcing locally, the Group fosters economic
growth and creates employment opportunities for local
communities. It recognizes the importance of supporting
the local economy and aims to make a positive social and
economic contribution through its business activities.

The Group places a high priority on environmentally
friendly products and services during the procurement
process. A preference is given to suppliers and
subcontractors who choose products with less packaging,
thus reducing unnecessary waste, and opt to use energy-
efficient equipment, including LEDs, to reduce energy
consumption.

Apart from environmental concerns, the Group will
monitor whether its suppliers and contractors comply with
applicable health, safety, forced labour, and child labour
laws, regulations, and standards. As part of the evaluation
process, the Group will visit suppliers’ operating sites to
ensure they meet all aspects of standards. The Group
aims to reduce environmental and social risks in its supply
chain through the above practices.
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Product Responsibility

Responsible business practices are critical to a
healthy business. The Group believes quality products
and customer service are essential for sustainable
development. To this end, the Group has formulated a
series of relevant policies and guidelines to improve the
quality of its products and services continuously. Due to
the nature of the Group’s businesses, the Group does not
have specific product recall procedures in place.

During the Reporting Period, there were no sold or
shipped products of the Group that were subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons, and the Group
was not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with
related laws and regulations concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress
that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests of the PRC,
and the Advertising Law of the PRC.

Quality Services

Our core value is to provide and maintain high-quality
services that satisfy our clients. For this purpose,
we adhere to policies and procedures established in
accordance with 1SO9001:2015 Quality Management
System standards and procedures. To ensure the overall
quality of the fit-out work, a Project Quality Plan has
been implemented in the whole work process, starting
with materials purchase, document submission, sample
submission, construction and installation, inspection and
testing control, mock-up prior to installation, preparation
for handover and quality record management.
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Certain Control Measures

HETESER
Material Purchased ° Upon the arrival of the materials, the site manager/site
MR supervisor conducts the materials inspection.
MEEEE THERAS T EFBEEITHEIRE -
° Any materials found sub-standard or defective would be rejected
and replaced with qualified materials.
RN &R LR BRIEE M B BB U - IR E AR R B -
Document Submission ° All changes and modifications on any forms of documents,
NHRR including letters, drawings and technical literature, shall be
identified, documented, reviewed and approved by the project
manager before the implementation.
HAMBROXE 8EE0 ITEREREMTXHBMOMEEER
B - HETERIABEEEREABRTE 8 FERIE
Construction and Installation o The installation procedures shall be in accordance with the
BERTE approved Method Statement.
LRIEF BT A ZEN T EHA -
Inspection and Testing o Inspection and testing would be conducted before the handover

B Ui BRI =

of the completed work to the client. All the relevant records shall
be reviewed for compliance with satisfactory results.

U RBE B ERE P BRTKA TEZ RI#ETT - A HB AL
BEEEES UBRERFERTINETARENER-

o If there is any non-compliance or failed result, the subject parts
are required to take corrective and preventive actions, and these
items are to be re-inspected.

MEBEFAMIFEERKTEBNER AU BRBARNAYER
b fE WEHZEEBETEN RS

In addition to enhancing the project quality, we prioritize
the safety of our workers and project sites. The Group has
employees who are certified as Registered Safety Officers
by the Labour Department. To maintain safety standards,
weekly safety inspections are carried out using a checklist
developed by the Group. The inspections encompass
various criteria, including valid workers’ permits,
adherence to site safety rules, emergency plans, dust
control measures, noise control, identification of tripping
hazards, and the safety of electrical equipment. By
conducting these inspections, we ensure a comprehensive
approach to safety management and the identification and
resolution of potential hazards.
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Customer Service

To enhance customer satisfaction, the Group is focused
on improving its customer feedback system and providing
more ways for customers to share their opinions and
complaints about products and services. The Group
provides multiple channels for the public to share their
feedback, including official websites, phone calls, the
Group’s hotline, and in-person meetings. These diverse
channels offer customers convenient and accessible ways
to communicate their thoughts, enabling the Group to
better understand their needs and promptly address any
concerns or issues. By actively engaging with customer
feedback, the Group strives to continuously enhance its
products and services, ensuring a consistently high level
of customer satisfaction.

During the project, we communicate with customers
regularly to ensure that their requirements are met. Once
the project is completed, the customer will receive a
maintenance guide that includes appliance installation
instructions and a detailed drawing of the completed
space. The Group pays close attention to all feedback
received during and after the service. Customers have
given positive responses in satisfaction surveys during
this period. During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not receive any material product and service-related
complaints.

Aadvertising and Labelling

A appropriate advertising campaign is essential, and it
is important to follow media advertising rules. Online
platforms are used by the Group to advertise its business
activities. The Group have established relevant policies
and procedures to ensure that advertising information
is accurate, complete, and does not contain false or
misleading information. This can reduce advertising risks.
To protect consumers from any harm caused by ads, the
Group must comply with advertising laws and regulations.
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Privacy Protection

Protecting the rights, privacy, and data of customers is of
paramount importance to the Group. Stringent security
and confidentiality standards have been implemented
to safeguard the privacy of personal data. The Group
ensures compliance with all regulatory requirements
related to data privacy, guaranteeing that customer data
is handled and protected in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. By maintaining high standards of
data privacy, the Group demonstrates its commitment to
safeguarding customer information and upholding their
rights and privacy.

To ensure that computer systems are used exclusively for
business purposes, the Group has established the General
Information Technology Policy. Unless permitted or
required by law, the Group will not disclose the collected
personal data to any third parties without the personnel’s
prior consent. The Group also requires former employees
to give all work-related information and documents to the
responsible department. This includes customer details,
project plans, contents and progress of various tasks in
conjunction with pending tasks. In addition, the Group
will not disclose personal data to anyone for promotional
purposes. Whenever sensitive information needs to
be exchanged, a Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) is
mandatory as part of the contract.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Group employees are encouraged to innovate and comply
with applicable laws and regulations regarding intellectual
property protection in the places where they operate. The
Group maintains and protects intellectual property rights
and encourages its employees to keep up to date with the
latest technological breakthroughs.

According to the General Information Technology Policy,
employees are forbidden from disclosing confidential
information to any third party, including but not limited
to Group strategies, business interests, know-how,
inventions, and intellectual property, whether during
employment or after the termination of employment.
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Anti-corruption

Corporate governance is integral to the growth and
development of the Group. Towards the development
of an ethical, open, and transparent corporate culture,
the Group has formulated a Code of Ethics Policy and
Anti-Corruption Policy to govern business practices and
protect stakeholders’ interests. The Group takes a zero-
tolerance approach towards all forms of bribery and
corruption. Moreover, the Group explicitly specifies that
employees must be honest, loyal to their duties, and not
abuse their official status to obtain improper benefits.

Training and briefings on anti-corruption are provided to all
employees and directors of the Board in a regular manner
by the Group. Group directors and employees were
trained for 3 hours on the latest anti-corruption regulations
during the Reporting Period. The training materials
highlight the importance of embedding integrity in the
workplace, provide guidance on adhering to business
ethics, and provide industry-specific examples to facilitate
the understanding of anti-corruption by employees.

During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded
legal cases regarding any forms of fraud raised by the
Group or its employees. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Such laws and regulations include but are not
limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, the
Criminal Law of the PRC, and the Company Law of the
PRC and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has created a transparent Whistle-blowing
Policy to identify and prevent misconduct or unethical
behavior. The Audit Committee regularly reviews this
policy to encourage staff and stakeholders to report
corruption and improve anti-corruption efforts. Employees
who notice any actual or suspected violations must report
them through the channels outlined in the policy. This
allows employees and others associated with the Group to
voice concerns about misconduct. They can contact the
Board via email to whistleblower@sanbase.com.hk or mail
to the Group’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
The Chief Executive Officer or the Audit Committee will
handle the reports, conduct investigations, and present
findings to the Board. All reports will be kept confidential
and treated fairly. The identity of the whistleblower will
not be disclosed without their consent, unless legally
required. There will be no unfair treatment or punishment
of whistleblowers, and their legal rights will be protected.

Community Investment

The Group recognizes its role as a responsible corporate
citizen and actively monitors the needs of the communities
in which it operates. Through various channels, the Group
gives back to the community, aiming to promote social
harmony and sustainable development while fulfilling its
corporate social responsibility. In another effort to help
cultivate employees’ sense of social responsibility, the
Group has always encouraged employees to participate
in social welfare activities during their working day and in
their spare time to make a greater contribution to society.
During the Reporting Period, the focus area of the Group
is health and education and the Group’s total community
investment amount was approximately HKD7,500. Below
are the sections where we have made public donations:

o The Group donated HKD1,000 to Yan Chai Hospital,
supporting health initiatives.

o The Group donated HKD3,500 and organized a
volunteer event with Read cycling, focusing on
education and manpower.

o The Group donated HKD3,000 and held a volunteer
event with Mission health greens, contributing to
health and manpower development.
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The Group is dedicated to making a positive impact
on the community through our service efforts. We
envision a future where our contributions foster health,
education, and well-being. By encouraging employee
involvement in volunteer projects and collaborating with
local organizations, we aim to address social issues and
promote sustainable development. Our goal is to inspire
others to join us in this mission, creating a stronger, more
resilient community for everyone. Through these ongoing
efforts, we hope to leave a gift and empower future
generations.
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Subject Areas,
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Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TESHR-BEH —RIEK

ERBEENIER it 4:0 1]

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity. Emissions —

PR WUIRIEA1.4

FELBREEEVRE UMHE) REE-

Waste Management
P —REEEYER

KPI A1.5

BB A MIRIRALG

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

RIRFTET S M BN E B R R R ESE L B IR ERERA) 2P B8 -

Emissions -
Environmental Targets
Energy Management
- REBRERE
B

KPI A1.6

PR B AR WIRTEA1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

HAEEAERBEEEZYN L BEELEENEREERR

Emissions — Waste
Management

B —EEYERE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEHA2 ERER

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

Use of Resources

— R BRERER (BIERER KR EAMRME) AYBUER - BIRE A
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and Use of Resources -

A 5 45 R 1R A2

intensity.
RENESHNEER SHEEREEEREE -

Energy Management
BREMR-gEREE

KPI A2.2

PB4 IR 1R A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BEKENETE -

Use of Resources —
Water Management

BIRER—BKEE

KPI A2.3

7R 52 45 A FE 1R A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

g IR Bk st B RIS AR ©

Use of Resources -
Energy Management
BRER—ERERE

KPI A2.4

PSR MR TR A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

fi s SREGE KR ER] BERI R A AR T A 7K s 5t & B P
TR -

Use of Resources —
Water Management

BRER—RKER

KPI A2.5

BB A MIRIRA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and with reference to per unit produced.

BmATABREMENRE (UEAE) REBEESMIGE -

Use of Resources —
Use of Packaging
Materials
BREA - BEMEE
A
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - #HE8RERRBSE

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER it

D

Section/Declaration

2 BH

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EHAS  RERXRER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the The Environment and
environment and natural resources. Natural Resources

—RIRE BERETAHBERARARERERNERZENTE - RIERRKAER

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the The Environment and

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

EET et IXN R EDHEARRAE RN EAYERERRERERY
L8 -

Natural Resources —
Indoor Air Quality
Control, Noise Control
BERRABER-ZENXN
EREETEHREE

i

Aspect A4 : Climate Change
BEAL  RIEE1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

Climate Change

— AR B 5R BRALEHOKRAEGHETAEATENERRGEBREZE REZ(L
B BUR ©
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change —

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

Physical Risks,
Transition Risks

B4R 48 IR 1R A4 MABERRATRGHETAELATENERRGHEBAEE ME REZ{—-DERR-
178 BE R R
Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1:EE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@) the policies; and
(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
— AR 5R BTN ERE BEREN TERE RO TEHE Zait EE
BB AR A B B A 455 38 R AR I A9
(a) WE: R

() BFHBETABEAZENHEBEZZRRINER -

spesmAm 20256EHEE 101
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BE - #H#E8REABHRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TESER-EE —REK

ERBAEENER it 301

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Employment —

geographical region.

BB 4 IR IR B A IR EREAR FRAMN KRB SHES B -

G

Recruitment,
Promotion and
Dismissal

IR —HEE BT K
&

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

P AE IR IR B1.2 BRI FRER MR E D WEEIRKLL X

Employment -
Recruitment,
Promotion and
Dismissal

BIE—BE BAKR
=

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2  BEEZ2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

General Disclosure

Health and Safety

—RIRE EARMLZ2TIEFREIREREREBELREN: RBEEZZ

(@ HBFE: &k

(b) BTFUHBTABEAZENHEBZEZZERRANER-
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
R B RUEIR B2.1 Ik AB R EREZE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B A IE1EB2.2 EIGEXIEAE- REEZS
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Health and Safety —

and how they are implemented and monitored.

RSB R B2.3 W PR AR B ERFE R 216 ARBBERTRERD A

Occupational

Health and Safety,
Construction Site Safety
fERET2 —BERE
MLl FEETIHMZE

1 02 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE - #H#E8REABHRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TESR-EE —REK
ERBEENER

Description

1

D e

Section/Declaration

2 BH

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : &R RZI

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

Development and

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
—RIRE FARAEERTIEBRENMNAREENBRE M FIES -  BRERE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Development and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Training
B4 48 IR 1R B3. 1 RUERIREEER (NEREEE FREEE)IASNZIEE #HREKEFI

Antbe

KPI B3.2

FA B4R IR 1R B3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

R REBERE D BREE EKZIINFHEEC

Development and
Training

BRRIE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

BEB4 :ZEIEE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

—RIKE BRI IEE T RE$4 T : BIRE-HIEETI R
(a) WE: R 58 il 85 T
(b) BIFHBEBTABEAZENHRBZEZNMRAINER-

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Labour Standards —

A 5 45 S 1R B4 1

child and forced labour.

iR RO EEARMRE T NORHIS T -

Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BIFE-[IEETR
4T

KPI B4.2

RS IR 1R B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

W R E R BN ER B IS AT REE S5 -

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BTEE-[HIFET R
sl T
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RE - #HE8RERRBSE

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER it 301
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEB5: #EHEERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply Chain
chain. Management
—RIRE ERHEENREIEERARBBER- HEEERE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
Management —
Supplier Management
B4 48 R 1R B5. 1 miEE DR HEREBE - HEEERE—
HEm e g
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of  Supply Chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how Management —

RS 4 IR 1R B5.2

they are implemented and monitored.
M EARAEERNED MERTEBBAMNHEEREE X
MEBEANRITRERA A

Supplier Management
HEREE - HERNE
b

KPI B5.3

BB B B 1R B5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A ERAEREEEGERSAIRE A g RRAIE R LA KRB
BRI RERR A

Supply Chain
Management —
Green Procurement

HEHEER R ERE

KPI B5.4

FABEE 1R B5.4

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

M EREHERRRES ARRE®RRREHEN - LAREH
WITRERET %

Supply Chain
Management -
Green Procurement

HERER - ERE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

BHEB6 - EmE(T

General Disclosure

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

Product Responsibility

— BB ER ERFREELRMRBHRERELZS2 EE EHERLBEEUR EREA
R AR -
(a BXR: &
b) BFHEHETABERTEMMEEERBOAMNELR-

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Product Responsibility

A $2 48 IR 12 B6.1

safety and health reasons.
PEIEEXAERBSTRALZHEREAMARKN AL

EmAfE
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RE - HERERRS
Subject Areas,

Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER it

D e

Section/Declaration

2 BH

KPI B6.2
how

A B2 48 IR 12 B6.2

they are dealt with.

EERNEMIRFEORFEE AREE A

Number of products and service-related complaints received and

Product Responsibility —
Customer Service

EmEE-FPRH®

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Product Responsibility —
intellectual property rights. Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights
B 4B IR B6.3 i EREERRENEEREBANED - EmBE-REMBE
]
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility —
Quality Service
R BB IR B6.4 HllmEREREREmEWET- EmBEE-EBERS
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and Product Responsibility —
how they are implemented and monitored. Privacy Protection
B § 48 IR 1R B6.5 B BEERRERLBECR  URBERITRERF - EmBEE-LERE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 :RESS

General Disclosure
(a)
(b)

Information on:

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

— MR ER B ILARE  $hx  BEF A RED R&s
(a) ESZ% 53
(b) THETAGEARTENEAEZELRONER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Anti-corruption

brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting
Period and the outcomes of the cases.

B 4E R IR BT .1
EPN

REEHAHETASEEERIYEELENE)

FAMER -

5 AT AA SR A R BR

R&ES

KPI B7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BB 45 e 1R BT .2

M BEmRRRIEF UARERRITRERF -

Anti-corruption —
Whistle-blowing
Mechanism

RES — B W

KPI B7.3

A 824 M IE 12 B7.3 fé

MEFREBRHNREISHE

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.

Anti-corruption

= =

RES
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BE HEREAES

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER it 301

Aspect B8: Community Investment
EEB8 :#EBRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Community Investment
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

— MR ER FANMHBR2ERTREEMEHEZFENBRREEREHGE HERRE
R R R AR o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Community Investment
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
B4R 45 R 1R BS. 1 EIEREE (IHE REEE - SIFK R Xt -8BF5) HEEE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment
B 4 12 B8.2 EEITHEEMPBER (NEBEHERE) - HEREE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

@ pakertilly
R B [ B

To the Shareholders of Sanbase Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 116 to 211, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HHEEEQATRR
(REEHSTMA L BRI A)

=R
RPEEFHEEEQAR([E2T)REHB QT
(B EEEIHNEI16E21MENGEA M ER
= ERBIER2025F3A31HMGEAMBEMRRE A
MEBEZALFENGRABESRAEAZERER
BRARBEHRNGEARERER  UNREAMIBR
M BREEXNSHBRES

BMRE ZERAVBERREBREESHMAE
(BB AE ) BMNE AV SRS ER S E
BEEmMRstRET E5£EMR2025F3A8318H
BRAVBRARAREBEZALFENGATBERIER
AR REe YOEBRES (RAEHN) HEER
EEZBRE -

RRNER

BMEREFESAMAGRMHN (FEEER)
(IERETER])ETEN -RMEZFER T AR
MEECEARRSE [RBERES SV B BRI AR
MEEIMoPEE—FREL- RETESHTNLE
mE (BEGEERSTRD) (TFRA))  HABZL
R EEE YEETTHPNEMGEREREE R
PIMRE RMPMESHNESRERETY MBS AR
PimEt B RIR AR

spesmAR 20255EEE {07



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

FAREXEE
MREAHAFRERBERMANEXHEG RS Y AR
EHMBHREANBEARREENETH BLEREER
MEFERGEAMBERERLREAB AR ETREEN-
BT eHELETREHEBERL -RMAYTEE—
EEABRPRIMAIEENEAD AL RS T -

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREREE BMMERNMUEERREXEE

Recognition of contract revenue

BREESHBA

Refer to notes 4(i) and 5 to the consolidated financial Our audit procedures in relation to management’s

statements. recognition of contract revenue included:
B2 A R M TE4() RS o B ERERERRSNRANEZREFERE:

The Group recorded contract revenue from the services e
of bare shell fit-out, restacking and reinstatement for the
year ended 31 March 2025 of approximately HKD375.7
million.

B ZE2025F3A31AIEFE: BEEEBEERFERE-F o
KEERRBFSEAHWARNITS.TAEE T -

Revenue from contracts for the above services
is recognised over the period of the contracts by
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation on the basis of the actual
costs incurred by the Group up to the year-end date as
a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.
FRRBEHOARAREGHNERNBRE EXEEEFHE
HEEAZEBRKAGZE NG EAXNEANB D LAE
BHEEMBERTHRZEE
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Selecting ongoing contracts on a sample basis and
reviewing the terms and conditions of the contracts to
understand the respective work nature and contractual
relationship with the customers;
RMETANBELEETHNAOLERNE R EIG
T UTHRETIELEREEFNENAEK:
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B % AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXEE #)

Key Audit Matter
HAREXRSBE

We focused on this area as significant management’s
judgement is involved to estimate the costs to complete
individual service contract for projects in progress. The
estimated costs to completion are used to determine the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation of an individual service contract and to
recognise relevant contract revenue accordingly.

BB TR E - TR A TR ERETR RS 418
B S REREIRE A E - (A5t TR R EE @
MRBEHABHNEETK 2 ER L EREEREBEE L
WA e

D e

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNERNMEERRBREXSEHE

e Agreeing to the correspondences with selected
customers, including project acceptance documents
or communication evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimates on the
progress towards completion of a project;

s REBEFEPHBE BREBEBEEMAXHIBEERE
N EREHIER TR ERMTHNEIEMT

e  Assessing management’s determination of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the projects through
inquiry with project managers, on a sample basis,
inspection of project status summary and other
correspondences with customers and performing site
visits;

e BBRERKEEN REBEHMAKETFETHM
BEWAMESTRNETRSER U HEEEHIER
TERE B HRE

° Reviewing the latest project budgets and quotations,
on a sample basis, from subcontractors in assessing
management’s determination of estimated total costs of
projects; and

o UHMBESIAEBHZMBARE RRAHEFHORE - AT
HEREHIRB M BKRARRTE &

e Testing the total costs incurred up to the date of
statement of financial position by checking, on a sample
basis, subcontractors’ invoices and/or quotations.

e RHMEFABEBERNAABNBEER AME HE
ZHBIRR K B HAEER AR AETAR
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B % AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXREE (#)

Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

Impairment assessment of contract assets and
trade and retention receivables

BREEURESZRRE S EBRNBERT G

Refer to notes 3.1(ii)(b), 4(ii), 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B2HEEA T IRE M 3.1 (b) ~ B 540 ~ B 5217 K B
FE18 °

The Group had gross contract assets of approximately
HKD61.6 million and gross trade and retention
receivables of approximately HKD78.5 million as at 31
March 2025.

M2025%3H31H EBEHEEMEGHNEERTELNRGI.6H
BETURESRRESERREELN /7858 H BT

Management applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all contract assets and
trade and retention receivables. In developing the loss
allowances of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables, management used judgement in making
the assumptions about the risk of default and expected
credit loss rate.

ERBEAEEVBRE ENFIRNE A ATERH
EEEER SMAESHNEAEARES RRESERFRER
SHEHEERE -EFRETENEEARES LRE S E
WREERER BEBERME EFLEBEENRR
RIEHEEENRE -

The contract assets and trade and retention receivables
were grouped based on business segments,
geographical locations and credit risk characteristics,
and individually and collectively assessed for likelihood
of recovery, taking into consideration of ageing analysis
and historical credit loss experience. The expected credit
loss rates were determined based on default rates and
were adjusted to reflect forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors.
EHEEREIRRESEBFBEESE > H WEUE
REERBEHET HE UERINERIMRBAEER
EELR B MEET G KRB - TEREEES
BETDRBENXRET WKABRURMEBELZBELER
ZWRIIEHEER -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ECNNEEREERSE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of contract assets and trade and retention receivables
included:
BFREESNEENRE S KRB & B FORE T )&
BRFEE:

e  Assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as significant
judgements involved in determining collectability of
contract assets and trade and retention receivables for
the calculation of loss allowance;

e BBAZRMINITHETURBENEETSNEENURES
RRE S EURAT R E S Rt BB ERE S R EXHE
SHMEARBEZRMNKT FEEAERERANOER
[ B2

° Understanding the key controls over management’s
assessment of expected credit losses of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables including
the evaluations of customers’ credit profiles and their
respective credit risk;

e THEEEMRILANEEURES RRESERIE
ZIEHEEER (BREIAEPNEEENRKESH
V15 B LB ) £ B B2 42 I+ e

e Evaluating management’s key controls in respect of
management’s assessment of expected credit losses
of contract assets and trade and retention receivables,
including ageing analysis, review and regular
assessment performed on collectability of the receivable
balances;

e HRHEREBEYHNHMEANEELE S MRE T EUR
WIEHEEEBEMMIER BTG - 84 sl B U BR A4S R
BRI B E 1T B BRI O AT A ST R E HART A

e Assessing the appropriateness of the impairment
methodology in determining the provision for credit loss
allowance;

s HMEEEEFEEBERGBRAERRESEZZAENL:
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B % AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXREE (#)

Key Audit Matter
HAREXRSBE

In addition, for receivables related to customers
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt
in collection of receivables, specific provision was
made based on the estimated amount, taking into
consideration of the relationship with customers, credit
history, business performance and financial capability of
those customers and other relevant factors.

AN HEMBEHBRENT P H WL EKIERERE
ROBERKTEMS  NERINEAETFHNBER FERE
LEBRRERZEEPNVRENNEMEARE R
BB ERSTEE-

We focused on this area given that the inherent risk in
relation to the estimation of expected credit losses of
contract assets and trade and retention receivables is
considered significant and significant judgements are
involved in determining collectability of contract assets
and trade and retention receivables and selecting data
for the calculation of loss allowance.

ERBEEEHNEERES RRES B ATRE M &
BEREFEBEERENEBER P REAHE AtEE
HatBEERESMRESBRK RN TEREEEREME
BEOATERBRERSBEAN  HEBRERMOETEHE-

D

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNERNMEERRBREXSEHE

Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
the estimation of expected credit losses of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation process;
TEBAETHRRGNEERE S RRE S B K TEH
EEEEGHEZZER UFIHERENGEIREFZ
B

Verifying, on a sample basis, the ageing profiles of
the trade and retention receivables to the underlying
financial record;

AT A REE S MRE S ERRE R E # EEAE R
ARG OB TT L B

Testing, on a sample basis, the historical settlement
of the customers by checking to the bank record to
assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation
process on historical loss rate;

NHEEA A RERTEBERAATPHOELEEBR
N ERBEEYHR L BEXMGFARF 2B

Challenging management for the use of forward-
looking information in adjusting the credit loss rates by
comparing to external market data or public available
information; and
FREINBTISEIBAAFAIBERETLER HERE
BHEARGEBEXNYAELEERNNERED T k&
&

Independently assessing the recoverability of a sample
of trade and retention receivables balances, focusing
on long overdue balances by examining supporting
evidence, including subsequent settlements, credit
history, business performance and the financial
capability of these customers.

KEFTRX EHFREFHRERECERRHRPRES
B BYATEERMEN WEES THBAXFEEE B
HieEd TRNGEER:Y KEXENMBED -

HeRmMAT 20258EHE 1711
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by another independent
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements on 21 June 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit and obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine the matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chu, Johnny Chun Yin

Practising certificate number P08355

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= N2

= AN
?vT\Eu 5 m N

B Z200259F331H IF F/F

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Fair value change of a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss

(Provision)/reversal of provision for
impairment losses on financial assets

Operating loss

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income — net

(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income,
net of income tax
ltem that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operation
ltem that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:
— Remeasurements of employee
benefit obligations

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

H 2@ WX

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

L'ON
HHERA

E7

H Al Y A

TTHRAX

BRAREFABRGLZ
TREENAAEE

TREEREBEZ
(##) /#E

REER

MBWA
1 75 PR AR

B IS WA —

BRATSEAT (BE) HF
PGB F X

Fr(EE) EF

Hiz2m (EE) W
HNBRAEH
HEAEET P HE
HEapyEE :
HE G INFE TS
& H ZE%
TEEFFIEE
HH:
—EMFTEREREREF
E1E

EE

Frz2@E (HR) WE
wE
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Notes
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3.1(ii)(b)

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

418,769 428,077
(399,009) (402,885)
19,760 25,192

5 5
(19,222) (26,651)
(2,060) (437)

(2,620) 372
___________ 4,137) (1,519
2,994 3,382
(136) (114)

____________ 2858 3,268
(1,279) 1,749
(202) (1,030)

(1,481) 719
(37) (293)

(63) 515

(1,581) 941




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS TSk

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEakHEME2HEHKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

B F2025F3H31H IF FJZ D %
2025 2024
20254 20244
Notes HKD’000 HKD’000
Jiokia FET FETT
(Loss)/profit for the year EhEFER (BE) wF:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRABIER A (3,976) (1,369)
Non-controlling interests JEPTE R R 2,495 2,088
(1,481) 719

Total comprehensive (loss)/income EBiEER2@E (R

for the year attributable to: Wtk 4858
Owners of the Company IN/NEIEF SN (4,048) (1,133)
Non-controlling interests AR A 2,467 2,074
(1,581) 941
HK Cents HK Cents
Bl JEN

Loss per share attributable AKATEBAEWN
to owners of the Company BRER

Basic and diluted EARAREE 10 (1.99) (0.69)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 4R & 1B 28 K B b 2 UL 5 e BR BE BT Bt 5= — GTRI & -
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A AR R R
AS AT 31 MARCH 2025
R20256F3H31H

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Financial asset at fair value

through profit or loss

Deposits and prepayments
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Trade and retention receivables
Contract assets
Deposits, other receivables

and prepayments

Income tax recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity
Equity attributable to
the owners of the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Exchange reserve
Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests

Total equity
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'E

FRBEE

W% BB K&
EREEE
BVERE
BAnEfAR®ELZ
TREE

we MBENR
BIEFSHEE

RBEE
B 5 MARE £ FE WK
BHEE
B~ AWK &
KN
QR EE A
EHEMRITER
RehkBHeSED

HEE

FE 58
RAREREANEEER

L@

B dn 4 (B
PE 3 R 1
RE & F

IR

HES

31 March 31 March
2025 2024
20254 20244
3HA31H 3H31H
Notes HKD’000 HKD’000
i aF FET FET
12 196 334
13 2,465 4,082
14 9,544 9,544
15 12,063 14,202
19 68 484
23 2,227 1,121
........26,563 29,767
17 73,794 54,550
18 61,539 39,065
19 3,704 2,732
- 608
20 12,570 —
20 103,618 139,638
_________ 255,225 236,593
281,788 266,360
21(a) 1,553 1,553
57,632 57,632
(123) (96)
73,815 77,836
132,877 136,925
7,130 7,059
140,007 143,984



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B &

AS AT 31 MARCH 2025

R202543H31H : il o=
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
20254 2024 %
38318 3A31H
Notes HKD’000 HKD’000
i aF FET FET
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 13 713 1,449
Employee benefit obligations EERMEMT 690 372
____________ 1,408 1821
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B 5 ENAR 22 120,658 110,562
Accruals and other payables JE & R E At JE A 5K 22 1,255 1,920
Contract liabilities AHMAEaE 18 16,265 5,401
Lease liabilities HERE 13 1,835 2,672
Income tax payables FERT TS HL 365 -
_________ 140,378 120,555
Total liabilities we s 141,781 122,376
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 281,788 266,360

The consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 211 F116E211ENGA M EHR A EE FEH2025%6
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of HA20E#EREETIEEHUNTESRESE:
Directors on 20 June 2025 and were signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sai Chuen Hui Man Yee Maggie
FitiF e
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should & #it4R& B FE AR S 3% FE BABE BT BT o — F BRI -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOEDﬁ\TED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= AN £4
%‘m Eﬁﬁ&i@ﬁﬁ
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

B Z200259F331H IF F/F

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEAER
Shares
held under
share award Non-
Share Share scheme Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium  (Note 21(b)) reserve earnings Subtotal interests  Total equity
R 5B
HE
i 43
BR& ROEE (KE21()) ENffA RERA N KERER HER
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET FAT FAT FET
At 1 April 2023 H2023%481R 1,553 57,632 (2,998) 115 80,882 137,184 6,969 144,153
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR) /i - - - (1,369) (1,369) 2,088 719
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EREMZE (BB /
for the year: gz
Exchange differences on translation BEBNEBHESERE
of foreign operation - - - (211) - 211) (82) (293)
Remeasurements of employee benefit ENGERERNER
obligations - - - 447 447 68 515
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ER2E (KR /
for the year W - - - (211) 922) (1,133) 2,074 941
Transactions with owners in their capacity AEBASREEE AR
as owners: R
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BENTHERERZIRE - - - - - - (1,984) (1,984)
Issuance of shares under share award R BN B T BT 2 R D
scheme (Note 21(b)) (Hi&21b)) - - 2,098 - (2,124) 874 - 874
At 31 March 2024 #2024%38318 1,553 57,632 - (96) 77,836 136,925 7,059 143,984
At 1 April 2024 R2024%E4 518 1,553 57,632 - 96) 77,836 136,925 7,059 143,084
(Loss}/profit for the year FN(BE) /&f - - - - (3,976) (3,976) 2,495 (1,481)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EREMEE (FB) /
for the year: gz
Exchange differences on translation BEBNEBMELER
of foreign operation - - - (27) - (27) (10) (37)
Remeasurements of employee benefit N EREREBAEMR
obligations - - - - (45) (45) (18) (63)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FR2E (KR /
for the year WHLE - - - @) 4,021) (4,048) 2,467 (1,584)
Transactions with owners in their capacity JEEASHEEGAEST
as owners: &
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BN THERERZRE - - - - = = (2,396) (2,396)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%3831R 1,553 57,632 - (123) 73,815 132,877 7,130 140,007

bt e n R EEENNE—HFHE

o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ IE, ﬁ 1L E %‘:Z

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
B 22025331 H I F/&

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Placement of pledged bank deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Lease payments

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read  _F#l4R &

Notes
k3

REZHHTRE
LE (A JEEZ
Be
B H 8
ENME %R

30(a)

ReEED (A BEEZ
FRE

j&ﬁ/ﬁﬁziﬁ.ﬁuws
XNHBEME BEK
Bl
FREBIRBITER

REEZHFAZERSE

MEZHHRERE
HEM®

B F IR s
ZHE

30(b)

MEEFHFAZERSE

ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
W) ¥R
[ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&
ReSEBRZvE
REMNREE R
ReFEY

REXRRER
BHEeEEY 20

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2025 2024

20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

(20,813) 33,613

2,994 3,382

(338) (2,424)

__________ (18,157) 34,571
(71) (78)

(12,570) -
__________ (12,641) (78
(2,859) (2,216)

(2,396) (1,984)
___________ (5,255) _(4,200)
(36,053) 30,293

33 (357)

139,638 109,702
103,618 139,638

H &8 &K IE R M I R
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sanbase Corporation Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 24 March 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business is 16/F,
Loon Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries together are principally
engaged in the provision of interior fit-out solutions in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The ultimate holding company of the Company
is Madison Square International Investment Limited. The
ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 4 January 2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (‘HKD”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 20 June 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(i Compliance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”) Cap.622.

HKFRS Accounting Standards comprises the following
authoritative literature:

o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
° Hong Kong Accounting Standards

° Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
financial asset measured at fair value.

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments listed above to
HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

D

2. RBEE (&)

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. REEE ()
(iv CEMEAREERMARERNZHITRE
& 5T ZE 8
REBWARRERBTHEBMGRITRL
AEEB2024F4 818 F 4480 B B HAfE o4
B R ] RASHEFT 2R o

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(iv) New and amended standards issued but
not yet adopted by the Group
The following new and amended standards have
been published that are not mandatory for the
Group’s financial periods beginning 1 April 2024 and
have not been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BB IS HmE 2R PERENEN R
Financial Statements* %1858 58
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification BB RS AR eMTEDEKR
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial FOREEBY FFEMIEETS
Instruments? WEERETIHR
(BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BB RS AR EE AR E
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0R LB BES NAIRBEDE
Associate or Joint Venture' B 085k ZEZEE
(BETA) HESgEE
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS BB KRS AR BB WS AR

Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

Accounting Standards -
Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

SRR (£5T7)

BB B ERIE215
(3T )

SR RANEE
M- F 1150

BRZ A] 5 e

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing BAVEwEER W R AKRE B A BEIR
and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent Electricity? L&A E EEBND
WEEAETR & %90
(BETA)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2025.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards mentioned below, the Board
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(iv) New and amended standards issued but

not yet adopted by the Group (Continued)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to
HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33
Earnings per Share are also made. HKFRS 18, and
amendments to other standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027,
with early application permitted. The application
of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies

1

Consolidation

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases. The Group applies
the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree,
the equity interests issued by the Group and
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. Intra-group
transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing on the investments
in subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statement exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a
manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that
make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional
currency”’). The Company’s functional
currency is HKD and majority of the
subsidiaries of the Group operate in
Hong Kong and the PRC whereas their
functional currency are HKD and RMB
respectively. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKD, which
is the Company’s and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

4

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain
or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

1 28 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

2. MEEE #)
(v) EEMNEFTHERBE (&)

4

INMEBRE ()
(i) XZRAEH

SNER B TR R 5 A IA B B
AENGERBAEAEXRKBE
RBUYREER -ZERXHEENR
FREZHEDINEEE 2G5
MEEMBERFERA ZEXRR
BREEZIELBENED AR

7
o

N

BAAEFELAINEFEZ I
ERMEERAEEAAEEH
ZEXRBB - RRAAEINRZE
BIEROAAE
BEN—HD2H -Hlm FE
BHEEREBE (HIEAAE
AEREEHAARS ([ED
REFEEESFFAERE])
) s mEERERSTE
RRAINEREBEN—D Mk
ERMHEE (PINMDBREAAR
EFfEAEEHAEMEENE
M) CBREEREHEMLE
B WA 22 R R R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the reporting date;

(b) income and expenses for each
statement of profit or loss and
statement of comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising from the translation
of any net investment in foreign entities
on consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

5

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and 2-5 years
equipment

Leasehold 4 years or over the lease
improvements term, whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)
6 Intangible assets
() Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net
assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups
of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are
undertaken annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group
of CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

6

Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)~ Customer relationship and contracts
Customer relationship and contracts
acquired as part of a business combination
are capitalised at fair value separately from
goodwill at acquisition date and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is determined using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of
the intangible assets over their estimated
useful lives of one to three years.

(i) Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets
with a limited useful life using the straight-
line method over 1 to 3 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life,
for example goodwill, are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets

8

()

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured at amortised
cost; and

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through
profit or loss).

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt instruments
when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the assets.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)

8

(i)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at
FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classified
its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(i) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

8

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in profit or loss.
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)

8

(i)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures
all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)
8 Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase
in credit risk. For contract assets and
trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition
of the receivables, see Note 3.1(ii)(b) for
further details.

Receivable related to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)

8

(iv)

Impairment (Continued)

Significant increase in _credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° An actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° Significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° Existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° An actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

° An actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 180 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)
8 Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Impairment (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@) Significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(o) A breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

() The lenders of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession that the
lenders would not otherwise
consider;

(d) It is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy.
Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

9

10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or
the counterparty.

Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade and retention receivables are amounts
due from customers for service performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current.

Trade, retention and other receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade, retention and other
receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

11

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Upon entering into a contract with a
customer, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or
provide services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and
performance obligations gives rise to a net
contract asset or a net contract liability
depending on the relationship between
the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets if the measure of
the remaining conditional rights to consideration
exceeds the satisfied performance obligations.
Conversely, the contract is a liability and
recognised as contract liabilities if consideration
received (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer exceeds the measure of the
remaining unsatisfied performance obligations.
In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the contract assets mainly consist of
unbilled work in progress and contract liabilities
mainly consist of receipts in advance from
customers.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment
under the same approach adopted for
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group transfers the goods or services
to the customers and therefore satisfied its
performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer are capitalised and presented
as contract related assets, if the Group expects
to recover those costs, and are subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customers
of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The Group recognises an impairment
loss in profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive
less the costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not been
recognised as expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

12

13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash
and cash equivalents.

Share capital and shares held under share
award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example as
the result of a share buy-back or a share-based
payment plan, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company
until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is
included in equity attributable to the owners of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

14

15

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for services
provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts
are unsecured and are usually paid within one
year or less after recognition. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

(a)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is
calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in
the countries where the Company'’s
subsidiaries operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation, and it considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
Group measures its tax balances either
based on either the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

15

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilize those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

15

16

()

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Employee benefits

()

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the reporting dates.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(itr)

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
in Hong Kong which is generally
funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution
plan. It pays contributions to administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. Moreover,
all the employees of the Group’s entities
incorporated in the PRC participate
in employee social security plans,
including pension, medical, housing and
other welfare benefits, organized and
administered by the local governments.
The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are
discretionary to management. Bonus
payments are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the Group has
formally announced the bonus payments
to employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv)

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect
of long service amounts payable on
cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current
and prior periods.

The long service payment liabilities are
assessed by using the projected unit
credit method. The cost of providing the
long service payment liabilities is charged
to profit or loss so as to spread the costs
over the service lives of employees.

The long service payment liabilities are
discounted to determine the present
value and reduced by entitlements by
employees accrued under the Group’s
defined contribution retirement scheme
that is attributable to contributions made
by the Group. Actuarial gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments
and changes in actuarial assumptions
are credited or charged to other
comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise, respectively. As a result
of plan amendment, a past service cost,
arising from the change in the present
value of the defined benefit obligation for
employee service in prior periods on the
date of plan amendment, is recognised as
an expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

17

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount can be made. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.
Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised
as a separate asset when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any on item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
18 Revenue recognition

()

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable
for the sales of goods and services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
Revenue is shown, net of discounts and
after eliminating sales with the group
companies. The Group recognises
revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforce able right to
payment for performance completed
to date.

D

2. MEEE #)
(v) EEMNEFTHERBE (&)

18 WARER

()

EFE KA
WARRAEBAEEB TG
BrREEEmEREARENE R
RELBBKENAAEFE
WATEMBRIFTME MY HE
B AR HEBERIIRBHA
MR A SERt & RREA
MBBAERABRER MA
SEEBREEHHNE LRIGMRE
(AR XAt ) - AN B & R
Ae

WATTREEZEFRERER
FRHER - HFA ORI ER
ERNNAR BEZIERIER
A —BRERINE -FEHE
%o M ASKBEE BT M
TGN BEZEHIETEB
—REEER:

o RHEEHEMN MEF A
FUWB|AWHEFEB RN - 3K

s BEAKBEREAOMAIZYL
RABPAERZEE &

e UEAIBHAKEMEA
BRABRZEE MAKE
BB A] 9% ) 8117 4 A e =
25 B ERBEHED 2K
15 o

peEmAR 20256EHEE 149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

18

()

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the
asset.

The progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation
is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to
the contract costs incurred up to the end
of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is recognised when specific
criteria have been met for the Group’s
activities described below:

(a) provision of bare shell fit-out,
restacking and reinstatement
services
Revenue from the provision of
these services is recognised over
time as the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset or
work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies
a performance obligation over time,
by reference to the actual costs
incurred as a percentage of the total
estimated costs for each contract.

(b) rendering of churn works, design,
maintenance and other services
Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised when the
services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

18

19

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flows
discounted at original effective interest
rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired
receivables is recognised using the
original effective interest rate.

(i) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on
an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option;

o lease payments to be made under
reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the
liability; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

19

Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the
rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease,
e.g. term, country, currency and security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

19

20

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of lease liability, any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases
of car park and offices are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the final dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders and interim dividends
are approved by the Board where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors

R EER
31 BH¥EKREZR

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board. The directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) identify and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operations with its
operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group considers the foreign
exchange risk exposure is not significant
as majority of the assets and liabilities
are denominated in HKD or RMB, which
are the functional currencies of the major
operating entities within the Group. The
Group currently does not hedge its foreign
currency exposure.

The foreign currency exchange exposure
on financial asset at FVPL denominated in
United States Dollar (“USD”) is considered
to be minimal as HKD is currently pegged
to USD.

RMB is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from the fund investment classified as
financial assets at FVPL. The Group
maintains the fund investment for long-
term strategic purposes.

As at 31 March 2025, if the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL
had been 10% higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, profit for
the year would have been approximately
HKD1,206,000 (2024: HKD1,420,000)
higher/lower.

The Group’s investment as at year end
date is not publicly traded. Management
exercises its judgement to determine its
fair value with reference to the Group’s
share of the net asset value provided
by its administrators of its underlying
residential and commercial project.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Financial
instruments at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Financial instruments at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly
from bank deposits. Other financial assets
and financial liabilities are non-interest-
bearing and are measured at amortised
cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Market risk (Continued)

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)
At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 50 basis points
in interest rates on bank deposits, with
all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s pre-
tax profit for the year by approximately
HKD580,000 (2024: HKD698,000).

The above sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the
reporting date and had been applied
to the interest rate risk exposure of the
financial instruments in existence at
that date. The 50 basis points increase/
decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year until
the next annual reporting date.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, contract assets, trade and
retention receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial asset at FVPL. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying amounts of these financial assets.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)

(@)

Risk management

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable with
investment grade credit rating. The Group
has not incurred significant loss from non-
performance by these parties in the past
and management does not expect so in
the future. Therefore, expected credit loss
rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made
as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk as at 31 March 2025 on
trade and retention receivables from
the Group’s customers with the largest
and top five largest gross trade and
retention receivables balance amounting
to approximately HKD33,782,000 (2024:
HKD7,641,000) and HKD56,108,000
respectively (2024: HKD33,936,000),
and accounted for 43.1% (2024: 13.2%)
and 71.5% (2024: 58.7%) respectively
of the total gross trade and retention
receivables balance. The major customers
of the Group are reputable organisations.
Management considers that the credit risk
is limited in this regard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(@)

Risk management (Continued)

In view of the history of business dealings
with customers and the collection
history of receivables due from them,
management makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of contract assets,
trade and retention receivables, and
deposits and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the debtors, relationship
with counterparties, and whether there
are any disputes with the debtors. The
Group’s historical experience in collection
of contract assets, trade and retention
receivables, and deposits and other
receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the Directors are of
the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible receivables has been made
in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

° contract assets and trade and
retention receivables;

° cash and cash equivalents;

° other financial assets measured at
amortised costs (including deposits
and other receivables); and

° financial asset at FVPL.

Contract _assets and trade and retention
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade and retention
receivables and contract assets. Except
for contract assets and trade and
retention receivables with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired,
the Group determines the expected credit
losses on these items on a collective
basis, grouped by past due status. The
information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s contract assets and trade
and retention receivables is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Contract _assets and trade and retention
receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention
receivable have been grouped based on
share credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same
types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group uses ageing of
contract assets and trade and retention
receivables to assess the impairment for
its customers in relation to its provision
of interior fit-out solutions operation in
Hong Kong and PRC because these
customers consist of a large number
of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual
terms. The exposure to credit risk for
contract assets and trade and retention
receivables which are assessed on a
collective basis by using provision matrix
within lifetime expected credit losses
(not credit-impaired). Contract assets
and trade and retention receivables
of credit-impaired with gross carrying
amount of approximately HKD3,518,000
as at 31 March 2025 (31 March
2024: HKD5,273,000 with significant
outstanding balances) were assessed
individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Contract _assets and trade and retention
receivables (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the contract
assets and trade and retention receivables
and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group recognised loss allowance
of approximately HKD2,623,000. The
Group provided impairment allowance of
approximately HKD3,194,000 (31 March
2024: HKD1,920,000) on debtors which
the management has determined to be
with financial difficulties and accordingly
the entire balance was determined to
be credit-impaired. The credit-impaired
provision was net-off by impact of an
reversal of impairment allowance for trade
receivables and retention receivables with
amounting to approximately HKD571,000
(31 March 2024: HKD204,000 of
impairment allowance provided), based on
collective assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KRBER &)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBEBEE &)
(i)  Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERARZ)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) b) TEEEE (F)

Contract _assets and trade and retention
receivables (Continued)

The movement of loss allowances for
contract assets, trade and retention
receivables as at 31 March 2025 and
2024 are as follows:

Loss allowance as at 1 April 2023 R2023F4 18K
EiE B
(Decrease)/increase in loss R E B E
allowance recognised (mA) /1 m

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 PR2024F3H31H &

and 1 April 2024 2024F 4 1B
BEEE
(Decrease)/increase in loss R EEEE
allowance recognised (R A) /18 m

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 PR2025%F3H31HH
5 18 B

Trade and retention receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Contract _assets and trade and retention
receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on contract assets
and trade and retention receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost
There is no loss allowance for these
assets at amortised cost as at 31 March
2025 (2024: same).

Financial asset at FVPL

The Group is exposed to credit-risk
in relation to fund investment that is
measured at FVPL. As at 31 March 2025,
the maximum exposure of the investment
is the carrying amount of approximately
HKD12,065,000 (31 March 2024:
HKD14,202,000).

3.

D

MEERER &)

3.1

MERBREE (&)
FERR (&)

(ii)

(b)

& mﬂﬁ/*ﬁfé’ (%)

BREENRE S RREDEK
KR EBEEREEEMNAZS
RRMERBEFE SR MESE
WHERKWOELAR-BEER -

LA G E MR 2 EE
R2025%F3H31H @ % F 1L # i
KA ENEELBBERZG
(20244 : #8R]) °

BAAIBEFEAREEFAIE
mh A E

ZISEI% sz AR EEFER
H& .:Jr)\?a FMESIREEH
B = F B o & 1E20254F3 A 31
H RENZARRAEEAED
£12,065,000/% 7T (20243 A
318 : 14,202,000 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or other financial
assets.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash
equivalents.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
On demand
or less than
1 year
—FLTF
HKD'000
FET
At 31 March 2025 2025638310
Trade payables EP YV INEN 120,658
Accruals and other payables  JExt R E b E (TR 927
Lease liabilities HERE 1,909
At 31 March 2024 M2024%3831H
Trade payables Y AN 110,562
Accruals and other payables JEFT R EMERRK 1,401
Lease liabilities HERE 2,793

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current asset
amounted to approximately HKD114,847,000 (31
March 2024: HKD116,038,000).
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MEERER &)

3.1

Bt 7%
(iii)

From

1 year to
2 years
-
EMF
HKD'000
FET

435

1,472

BEBEXR &)

B R B
RBERREEREUBITARMNR
THEMEMEENTEAFEZRE
EMARE TR REE -

BEERORBMEEREREGT THN
BehkBReSEY-

TERABARENEHMABEIEEM
BEMANRERBREEHRESR D
HEMHGBEELODT - TRE
BONERDERGHARMBERSRE -
HRERATEYAEXN B+ @A
MBI ERERNER@E:.

From Total
2 years to contractual Carrying
5years cash flows amounts
mMWE AHRER
2R mE BREE
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET
- 120,658 120,658
- 927 927
345 2,689 2,548
- 110,562 110,562
- 1,401 1,401
- 4,265 4,121

MN2025F3A31H  RNEEBNRTHE
BEOFEH) A114,847,0005 7T (20244
3A31H 116,038,000/ 7T ) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue
new Shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio (calculated at total debt divided by
total equity) of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was
1.8% (2024: 2.9%).

Lease liabilities HEAE
Total debt BEE

Total equity e
Gearing ratio BEAGBLE

MEERER &)

3.2 EXERE

AEENEAERBERAREERELE
BEE N AR IRH I ® R AR D
ERBEMEANEFREERARBURD

RERHAEEARARBE AEETAEK
NFREORESE ARREEEAR &
THRIEEEENRDER -

AKEBR2025F3A31HMEEAG L
R (BERERAEIERETE) B1.8%
(20244 :2.9% ) °

As at 31 March

A3H31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
2,548 4121
2,548 4121
140,007 143,984
1.8% 2.9%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT MERBER &)
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

3.
3.3 D AMEMF

The following financial instrument carried at fair value
is categories based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instrument that is measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period by level of the fair value
measurement hierarchy.

ATREAAEBAENERTREETHIE
DREBEEAAEBERTH A GERITHR
PEE - TRIERNEZNT

s HMHRAEEXBEEEERMSHRE CK
AR (F—E):

e BIF—EMEBENREIN ZEE
MBENABERNEME A TAR
B (BB %) kb (BRBE%)
(BZ[E)

s FBEXBBIFREAERDEHE
A (AR ERBA) (F=F) °

TREAAREBEFEEMRI ST AEEE
BERARUNAABEFENSRTH-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-F %F %=E it
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20245 20255 20245 2025% 20245 2025% 20245
HKD'000  HKD'000 ~ HKD'000  HKD'000 ~ HKD'000  HKD'000 ~ HKD'000  HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Unlisted fund investment (Note 15)  JEmESRE (Hii15) - - - - 12,063 14,202 12,063 14,202

Disclosures of the financial asset that is measured
at fair value is set out in Note 15 and is included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

There were no transfers of financial assets between

EERAABAEMFENTREEZEESHRN
B 3E1530 20254 K2024F3A31H B
ADREBEBRE=ZERH-

H E2025%F M2024FE3A31HILEE £ —

level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy B-F_EHBE-FEALBEHSEZMH
classifications for the year ended 31 March 2025 and WA EEENER-

2024.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate
their carrying amounts.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for
the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GABBRENS ; Pl T

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and
judgements are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the critical accounting estimations (see
below), that the Directors have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of
contract revenue, contract costs and variation orders
prepared for each interior fit-out solutions services
contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by major
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of the management. In order to keep
the budgets accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts
by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual
amounts incurred. Such significant estimates may have
an impact on the profit recognised in each year.

4.

D

B ERT T R A &

et R A S HRFETE LERNBELERNIE
EE(BRERBABERLTHEHRREMHNA
EEH) -

AR AR AR H 6 B8 2 R AR IR R
% R0 BUAE AR I A AR T o A DA f T R ¥
B B o B R R ST B AT
SHEOIRRD S TS E R BRI TR - 44 AT RS
ST R AR AR 2T AR B R SR AR
wR-

B R (RTX)EIN UTHRHAGAE
FERBAASESBRBRETMFLLAS
HEMBBRRNBINEHERNRERZTZE -

) BEEY
AEERBEAVEEEMMETREENR
REBATERRBADEFEHNEA A
MRAARTREEE-BEEEREE
BRAHE HEEKET TEHE/DR
BREEBZEBRRAERENAER - B
MREEERLGH EEERABEKEER
CHEERELASRETLER HAHA
BETEMESE -REFERGBFREHR
EFRENBMNELETE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment losses on financial assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when contract assets, trade and retention
receivables are impaired. This determination requires
significant judgement and estimation based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. In making this judgement and estimation, the
Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration
of receivables and the ageing and collection history of
individual debtors and expected future change of credit
risks, including the consideration of factors such as
general economy measure, changes in macroeconomic
indicators etc. Details of the assumptions and inputs
used are discussed in Note 3.1(ii)(b).

Valuation of a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

The Group holds a financial asset that is not traded
or quoted in active markets. The Group uses its
judgement to select the appropriate methods and
make assumptions based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period to
estimate the fair value of such financial instrument
classified under level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Valuation techniques include net asset values as
provided by fund administrators and discounted
cash flow approach which utilises inputs such
as projected cash flow and discount rate of the
underlying project. Although best estimate is used in
estimating fair values, there are inherent limitations
in any valuation technique. Estimated fair values may
differ from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.

Estimations in goodwill impairment
assessment

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment loss on an annual basis. For the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the recoverable
amounts of CGUs was determined based on value in
use calculations which require the use of assumptions.
The calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated
in note 14. These growth rates are consistent with
forecasts included in industry reports specific to the
industry in which each CGU operates.

1 68 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

4, BERETAETRHE =)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

TREEREER

AEEEBERE (BEMBRELEFENR) M
Hol AEANEE EHRRESER
RRAEEERE - EERERTEREY
BHORBRMEBRBRENRRETEARH
T A0 £ 5T o FE 80 UL B R R AR N
SR ERKIRROEFEDS EEBEAD
AR R WGRES - AR TFERARAREE
R El BEEE-—REEESR KB
REEGRELFAR - MARKMEAD

HENFE 2 E M 5E3.1(ii)(b) °

UAREBEFEEEHEZFHTABREN
ERMEENEE
AEBERBEAREEREMBEXHARENE
MEE- AKSEREBESEBRBEMFE
MmEER EREABEREENT X
VHHERE KEFERABERBRTD
BREZLANERIANAABAE-HE
TEBRESEEARHKNEEFEMR
SRITFE L ZANAEBEEE WENR
CREMPBREZHARIE -BE EMGT
AR BEBERT REMGFT EEAGE
R EERANRRE - MREFERK
mmE A AREETREE TRARE
ERREE-

e 2 R (B BY 14 A9 1 5

AEBSFEAAMESS LA RBE-H
1F2025%F M2024F3A31B I FE REE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . o |
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA K 2 &

2025 2024

2025% 2024%F

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 357,099 375,240
Restacking s# 15,442 22,375
Reinstatement EIR 3,131 -
Design BE 12,295 5,201
Churn works THTE 28,873 24,288
Maintenance and others RENMEAM 1,929 973
418,769 428,077

The Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024 mainly represents revenue from the provision of
interior fit-out solutions.

Revenue generated from bare shell fit-out, restacking and
reinstatement services were recognised over time while
revenue generated from design, churn works, maintenance
and other services were recognised at a point in time.

The executive directors have been identified as the
CODM who review the Group’s internal reporting in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group focuses on provision of interior fit-out solutions in
Hong Kong and the PRC for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024. Information reported to the CODM, for
the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the directors regard the Group’s business
as a single operating segment and review consolidated
financial statements accordingly. The Group primarily
operates in Hong Kong and the PRC. Revenue generated
from customers in the PRC is also related to the provision
of interior fit-out solutions and the reported geographical
segment information is presented below.

NEEH E20254F K2024E3A31 0 IFEE MK
AT ELARBEERNEFTRRTERAEHWA -

HERFRE BEMERRBMELNEATS
PEREmMER MAR: THIE RERHE
1t BR 755 T 22 A5 B W A T AR 4 2R B iy ] 38 T e R

NITEEOHERANEBNEIBELRKE
BEEMAEENRNBRE  UTFERRAESE
BJR o B 20254 M2024F3A31H FFE K
EEEIRERERTPEIREERNEEMAFER -
HREEBAEENEBRAE —KESBIL
HEEMGSEVEHRE WHERSE KRBT
HME MEBLERARESROERAERE
EENBEBCLEEE - AEBEITENETERTH
KEEE - KARTREFPHBRATEREZR
HEFAFERR REZFRBESBERTIR
T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WARDEESR 2
INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information i 32 E R

EPMMBEMEDERIRERENMLE - NEE
CRERANTEMREBRFTE - TR#HAK
SEEBIEEFHWA DT

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided. The Group’s
operations and workforce are mainly located in Hong Kong

and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group’s revenue from external customers.

2025 2024

20254 20244

HKD’000 HKD’000

FE T FET

Hong Kong BB 409,293 412,220
The PRC s 9,476 15,857
418,769 428,077

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the

TEFEFEHR

KAGAEEBWAEIBI0%HE P KA

Group’s total revenue are set out below. IR o
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FAETT
Customer A ZEEA N/A (Note) 92,963
B (KaE)
Customer B =FB 73,802 -
Customer C ®PC 68,418 54,146
Customer D =FED N/A (Note) 51,693
TERA (Ka)
Customer E EFE 43,325 N/A (Note)

Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10%
of the Group'’s total revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

EXPENSES BY NATURE

The Group’s (loss)/profit for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 are stated after charging the following

6. RUHEEIITHWMAX

NEBH T2025%F NM2024F3A31H IEFEW
(FB1R) R RSB A THEER A RITHRES

cost of sales and administrative expenses: % HIT
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FiET
Subcontracting charges SBEEH 357,981 359,663
Staff costs (Note 8) BIRA (A:8) 42,959 49,257
Cleaning expenses BR2EH 3,493 5,629
Insurance expenses RER A X 3,895 3,032
Short-term lease payments (Note 13) REMENRK (HE13) 173 1,466
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 B 5 B
- Audit service —EZR 760 1,150
Depreciation on right-of-use TREEEZTE
assets (Note 13) (Ha#13) 2,770 2,057
Depreciation on property, plant and WE BMEREEBZITE
equipment (Note 12) (fiat12) 206 533
Legal and professional fees FEERBEEER 2,558 2,983
Other expenses HibFHE 3,436 3,766
Total cost of sales and administrative 65 PN R AT IR B ST 4B R
expenses 418,231 429,536
Representing: Hr:
Cost of sales 56 B A 399,009 402,885
Administrative expenses TEHAX 19,222 26,651
418,231 429,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

7. FINANCE INCOME - NET 7. MW A-FE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Interest income from bank deposits IRITF A B UL A 2,994 3,382
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 13) A E B EZ M BF X (#1:13) (136) (114)
2,858 3,268

8. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 8. EIRA (BREESEM=2)

EMOLUMENTS

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances & MoERL 34,484 38,288
Discretionary bonuses B 15 IEAT 6,760 8,279
Share-based payments AR 10 B B RE RS2 A - 874
Retirement benefits contributions (Note) — EIRE RIS 5 (H152) 1,715 1,816
42,959 49,257

Note: As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no forfeited Btat - m2025% &2024F3A31 8 - A& H &2 I

contributions available to reduce the Group’s contributions MR AR AR R FEE H K-

in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR P

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING 8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included two (2024: two)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 29(a).
The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining three
(2024 three) individual during the year are as follows:

Salaries e
Discretionary bonuses [SREREEAN
Share-based payments LA D BEREN A

Retirement benefits contributions R ARAE F R

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

< 0

2,000,001 L=
2,500,000/ 7T

2,500,001 L=
3,000,000/ 7T

Emolument bands
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000

HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000

During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals mentioned above
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office (31 March 2024: Nil).

ETHA (BRESEME) (&)

hEEEHFMAL
FANEAEERTHES 258 AL BE2H
(202445 : 2% ) &5 - HFH MWW E29(a) A Bk o
ERNEN#BTIE (2024F : 3% ) AT 2 H B0
T

2025 2024

2025%F 20244

HKD’000 HKD’'000

FET FET

4,126 3,893

2,917 2,796

= 116

54 54

7,097 6,859

EEMESNMRIUATEER:
Number of individuals
AE

2025 2024

20254F 20244F

2 3

1 _

FAREBVER FXAlAEESHMAL
TARHEREN S - YEA A SR I A KR &£ B/ 2 &)
B sl BB ~ 18 (202443 H31H 1 £&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIBHEAX

2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

Current income tax BIEA P15 7%
- Hong Kong profits tax —BAENEH 1,282 917
- PRC enterprise income tax —HFRECEMER - 11
— Under-provision for prior years —TFREIR 29 25
Deferred income tax (Note 23) EIEFTIS R (M 3£23) (1,109) 77
202 1,030

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Pursuant to
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2
million of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above
HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of one of group
entities is calculated at 8.25% (31 March 2024: 8.25%) on
the first HKD2 million (31 March 2024: HKD2 million) of
the estimated assessable profits and at the rate of 16.5%
(31 March 2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits above HKD2 million (31 March 2024: HKD2 million)
for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on enterprise income tax (the
“EIT”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% (31 March 2024:

25%).

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has been
made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year (31 March 2024: same).

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates applicable to the respective companies of

the Group as follows:

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Tax calculated at Hong Kong statutory
tax rate

Effect of different taxation rates in
other jurisdictions

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Income not subject to income tax

Tax loss not recognised

Tax concession

Under-provision in prior years

Income tax expense

FrE8Ex®)

BREPECEMSN (RERER])EREE
PRSBEB MR - - BB R Z B ER25%

(202453 A31H :25% ) °

AREERFAEEMBDEER I EIFERT G
M) 8R4 B EL Al A RE (R MY TS B AF th B4 (2024

F£3A318  EA) -

AEBBERPAEHA (BE)  aflafiE. &
AEBEEZRABARANERRERFENERNE

BRTRR &5 mT

2024
20244
HKD’000
FET

1,749

123

132
57
(560)
1,256
(3)
25

2025
20254
HKD’000
F & T
BAETEEA (BE)
ikl (1,279)
BEBNEEMEGTE
7 Fi 18 (376)
Hi R AR TEEEN
B 20
AR 61
EIBRTAURA (625)
REERB B 1,095
RIS ER 2
TFEBREBETR 29
g’ 202

1,030
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

10. LOSS PER SHARE 10. BRE B
(a) Basic (a) EXR
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the FBREREE TR B £2025%F K2024%F3
loss attributable to owners of the Company by the AS1BIEFEARRGIHAE AEIMLEERI
weighted average number of Shares in issue less EEITH N T BUR R (D R & T A
the total number of Shares held under share award BRODBEGTE -
scheme during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.
2025 2024
20254 20244
Loss attributable to owners RABHEB AELERE
of the Company (HKD'000) (F%#7T) (3,976) (1,369)
Weighted average number of BT INRE T &
Shares in issue less shares held under AR B R & T
share award scheme (in thousand) Fr¥sitn (F/48) 200,000 198,084
Basic loss per share (HK cents) FHREANEE (GEM) (1.99) (0.69)
(b) Diluted (b) #8
There were no outstanding share options or other M2025%F N2024F3H31H » B & B AR IT1E
potential dilutive equity instruments in issue as at 31 CHEBREREME R T BEA S E S
March 2025 and 2024. Accordingly, diluted loss per TE-AYt SRETSEATERERNEE
share is equal to basic loss per share. il
11. DIVIDEND 11. K&
The Board do not recommend the payment of a final EES NEENEE2025F3A318 I FE IR
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (31 March RERPZ B (2024F3A31H 1 &) -
2024: nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2024
Net book amount at 1 April 2023
Additions

Depreciation charge (Note 6)
Exchange translation difference

Net book amount at
31 March 2024

At 31 March 2024
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2025
Net book amount at 1 April 2024
Additions

Depreciation charge (Note 6)
Written off

Exchange translation difference

Net book amount at
31 March 2025

At 31 March 2025
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. %R -BERRE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements vehicles Total
HERRRE HERE HEH &t
HKD’000 HKD000 HKD000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FHET
B Z202453A31HILEE
202354 A1 B MR EFE 550 240 - 790
NE 78 - - 78
WEEBH (fiH6) (297) (236) - (533)
ERBREZE (1) - - (1)
20243318 H)
REFE 330 4 - 334
H2024%3A31H
P A 3,745 2,697 475 6,917
2FHE (3,415) (2,693) (475) (6,583)
Fm3E 330 4 - 334
B Z202553A31HILFEE
R2024F4 1B REFE 330 4 - 334
NE 71 - - 7
WEER (Kit6) (202) (4) - (206)
k= (2) - - @)
ERREZR (1) - - (1)
R2025F3 318
RmFE 196 - - 196
202538310
XA 3,322 2,697 475 6,494
ZFTHE (3,126) (2,697) (475) (6,298)
RmFE 196 - - 196

Depreciation expenses of approximately HKD206,000
(2024 HKD533,000) have been charged to “administrative
expenses” for the year ended 31 March 2025.

REZE2025F3A31H I FE ' 4 /5206,0007% 7T
(20244 : 533,000 L) WINER BT A 1T

BRI e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

13. LEASE

This note provides information for leases where the Group

is a lessee.

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of finance position

13.

HE

ATREFBAEERAEANEENER -

(i) RZEMBRRREIANSE

HEMBRARBRATREEFENS

shows the following amounts relating to leases: ]
2025 2024
2025F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET Fi&ET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises MAEYE 2,038 3,877
Warehouse BE 172 69
Office equipment N 255 136
2,465 4,082
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current BIEAED 5 1,835 2,672
Non-current JEBDER I 713 1,449
2,548 4,121

BEARNTEEAEONEFTYESERE
EMREFEESB4.27T% o

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities is 4.27% for both years.

HE2025F3A31HILFERNE WF &
EE %) A1,155,000/8 7T (2024F3H31H ¢
4,245,0005 7T ) ©

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately
HKD1,155,000 (31 March 2024: HKD4,245,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . ot |
GEHEEE N el 2

D

13. LEASE (Continued) 13. *E.%E. (4&)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) AZEERRERANEE
statement of profit or loss
The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows REERRBERUNTHEEEHEN S

the following amounts relating to leases:

2025 2024
20254 20244
Notes HKD’000 HKD’000
=3 FET FHET
Depreciation charge of FRAEEEZHEEA
right-of-use assets
Office premises WANEYE 2,564 1,821
Warehouse BE 103 104
Office equipment WAERE 103 132
6 2,770 2,057
Interest expense FERT (BREMBEKAA)
(included in finance cost) 7 136 114
Expense relating to short-term EHBEE s HAX
leases (included in administrative (BRETEHAZA)
expenses) 6 173 1,466
The total cash outflow for leases for the year HZEZ2025F3A31IHIEFEMNAER &
ended 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately i A8 %) 53,032,00008 7T (20244 ¢
HKD3,032,000 (2024: HKD3,682,000). 3,682,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

13. LEASE (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouse and
equipment. Lease contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of one to five years, but some may
have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions.

There were no variable lease payments for the
leases entered into by the Group for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and warehouse leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The Group recognises right-of-
use assets with extension and termination options
that are exercisable only by the Group and not by
the respective lessor only if the Group is highly likely
to exercise the options.
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13. A& (&)

(iii)

(iv)

REENHEHEEBRAEIRGE

AEEHEZEARAE REEARE-HE
BRBERIESFNEEHR D%
BT X (iv) Pt ey HY & 242 o

i

HEGARDEBHBEER EPEEF
R RO 1R TR R AR A

H E2025F K2024FE3A31BH IEFE A E
B EREAENRINAEE -

R IEEERE
AEENETOEAREHERSLERR
RIEEEE-FEAREEESBZES
FERANEE T AZERTKLEELE-E
EAKEGAARTEPER KRBT
ERAATHME LEEFRNEHREEE
EEEREREAASREMFESANDHE
ATTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Year ended 31 March 2024

Net book amount at 1 April 2023

and 31 March 2024

At 31 March 2024
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2025

Net book amount at 1 April 2024

and 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2025
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

14. B EE

Customer
relationship
Goodwill and contracts Total
EFBER
BHE = &5t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETL FET
B Z2024F3R831HILEE
M2023F4 818 I
20243 A3 BHBEE FE 9,544 - 9,544
R2024F3H31H
k7R 9,544 2,870 12,414
g - (2,870) (2,870)
REFE 9,544 - 9,544
B Z2025%F3A831HILEE
M2024F4 818 &
20253 A31 B RE FE 9,544 - 9,544
R2025%3H31H
DN 9,544 2,870 12,414
g - (2,870) (2,870)
BREFE 9,544 - 9,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 14. B EE (2)

Notes:

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group’s goodwill of approximately HKD6,470,000 (2024:
HKD®6,470,000) and approximately HKD3,074,000 (2024:
HKD3,074,000) were arisen from the acquisitions of Core
Group Holding Limited (“Core Group”) and Siwu Architectural
(Guangzhou) Limited (“GZ Siwu”), respectively, in prior years.
The Directors consider Core Group and GZ Siwu as two separate
CGUs and allocates goodwill resulting from the said acquisitions
accordingly.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount of
a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount which results in
impairment of goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
determined based on value in use calculation. The calculation
uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budget
approved by the Directors covering a five-year period. Key
assumptions used in the calculation includes pre-tax discount
rates ranging from 18% to 22% (2024: 19% to 23%), revenue
growth rate from 3% to 4% (2024: 3%) for the five-year forecast
period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rate from 2.0% to 2.5% (2024: 3%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate based on past
performance of the CGUs and their expectations of the market
development. The discount rates applied by the Group are rates
that reflect current market assessment of the time value of money
and risk specific to each CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs in which goodwill has been allocated are higher than
their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. As a
result, no impairment loss was charged during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Since the carrying amounts of the Group’s CGUs are not
sensitive to the changes in assumptions, no sensitivity analysis is
disclosed.
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BB ZREN G

N5 @ 2 72 46,470,000 7T (20244 : 6,470,000/
7T ) N #93,074,0007% J© (20244 : 3,074,000 7T) %
B EE 5 8 LATE & MUY Core Group Holding Limited
([Core Group | ) REMETAZEXRAABRAA ([E
MEFF |) - ZEH# Core Group & &N HT 718 & /M A =B
BHRECEABMTELS AR E FMKBEEZEHE-

EEEBFRTBESCEAENEEERS AR A KE
CHEUNBELPmERE-BeELESEMM A KE &5
RERABEETC - MABRSRENNTEFARIEE
ERAENREAFTHRMNTREEMET 5T EFTHE
ARERBREEEIFEIEN F18% £22% (2024
F:119% £23% ) IR ATAE I X 1 F3% £4% B9 A
WRER(2024%F :3%) - MBEAFH B S REANRA
NF2.0% E2.5% (20245 : 3% ) M (HFTIE R REH -

EREERRSELBNZAGRALTHBERBHE
FRABREREFNE - AEEERZBRERTIRER
ARMEHEEFREERZRSELEM T ERR
B R o

R E T (H 123 20254 K2024F3A31H HE
ErkEmERCELEEMHAIKRECERREREE-
@A Iy & 220254 &2024%F3 A31H I 4 [ I #5525
=

MR ASERSEL BN RABEL TS HEBR2E
PELGUR R - MO B R B BURE DT -



15. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial asset measured at FVPL include the following:

Non-current assets IRBEE
Unlisted fund investment FEMESKE
Opening balance HR A 45 R

Fair value change N EEE
Exchange translation difference fERLIREZ
Closing balance IR &8

As a percentage of total assets HBEEMNB DL

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s unlisted fund
investment represented an investment in an unlisted
private fund with limited liability incorporated in Cayman
Islands with an underlying residential and commercial
project (the “Project”) located in Cambodia (the
“Cambodia Fund”).

The Project accounted for substantially all of the
Cambodia Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value
as at 31 March 2025 and 2024, accordingly, in the opinion
of the directors, the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund
approximated its fair value.

CRAO/EFEEESBHIAREN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

ETHMEE
BAREFEAAZFABENSREES
HOA T &8 -

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
12,063 14,202
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
14,202 14,687
(2,060) (437)
(79) (48)
12,063 14,202
4.28% 5.33%

R2026F3A3IE AKEMELMESRENR
RPFAEHEEMAINIFELTRABTREME
NEMI N RIBERNBBEEREXRE ([HB])
M—IERE ([REREE]) -

ZBEENRBEESN KRB FEE  WIL2025
FRN202443A3THMAABEYE Atk &
ERE RERESNEEFEEELRNAEEMN
;EO
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

15. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 15. RAAEFABEZNEREE (&)
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The Group’s investment in the Cambodia Fund was stated AEBRNRBEEESTHERENAABEEZEAR
at fair value with reference to its share of the net asset SEHERAREOHAEGEEFENDERIE
value of the Cambodia Fund provided by its administrators EMMRRER AR EREEESEHENE
and discounted cash flow of the Project. Key assumptions ZREFWT
used in the valuation of the Project of the Cambodia Fund
are as follows:
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
Adopted unit rate AR B EE USD3,400/square meter USD3,400/square meter
3,400% 7t ¥ 5 3K 3,400% 7T/ 5 K
Adopted unit rent RAMELES USD23/square meter USD25/square meter
28ExFHK 26% 7L,/ ¥ 7K
Adopted agency fees and KANREENAES 8% and 11% 8% and 11%
commission 8% M11% 8% F11%
Pre-tax discount rate AT AL IR = 10% 10%
Selling price growth rate BEHEERERE:
per annum:
For the 1st year F—F 2.5% 2.5%
For the 2nd year £ _F 3.0% 3.0%
For the 3rd year E=F 5.0% 5.0%
For the 4th year FEYF 6.0% 6.0%
The Cambodia Fund was denominated in USD. RIHEHE S UAEITLFE
Management considers that the change in the selling EEERA BENHEEREEXTELERE
price growth rate of the Project is the most sensitive EHRBRASKREANBESRHBRNERZ -5
factor to the fair value of the Group’s investment in HEHNHEEREREETHAREHE XL IR
the Cambodia Fund. If the selling price growth rate D10% - M T H b B R IF B RIE 22025
of the Project had increased/decreased by 10% from F3AGIA AEEERBEESHNEENLA A
the original growth rate with all other variables held B 1E 51 I, 2> 493,906,000/ 7T (2024 4F :
constant, the fair value of the Group’s investments in the 4,481,000/ 7T) ©

Cambodia Fund would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HKD3,906,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024
HKD4,481,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS . o |
GABBEENE 2=

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 16. ZERE7HWERMI A
CATEGORY
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEBEBFBUTERMIA:
2025 2024
20255 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
TFETT TFET
Assets as per consolidated statement REMBERRKRFREE
of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost REERATENEREE
— Trade and retention receivables (Note 17) - B RRESEUGK (HiF17) 73,794 54,550
- Deposits and other receivables (Note 19) —Re REMEWRIK (F19) 2,958 2,346
— Cash and bank balances (Note 20) - Rae RBITHEE (HiZ20) 116,188 139,638
192,940 196,534
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 15) BRAREFTEBEZEHITA
BameMEE (WiF15) 12,063 14,202
Total A 205,003 210,736

Liabilities as per consolidated statement HEMBERRAERATEE
of financial position
Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs: IRE K AT EN S HEE:

— Trade payables (Note 22) —BIEMNR (HiF22) 120,658 110,562
- Accruals and other payables — A REMENRK 927 1,401
- Lease liabilities (Note 13) —HEBRE(HiF13) 2,548 4,121
Total a&t 124,133 116,084
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17. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 B
Retention receivables RE < &Y R

B ORUE B 1B B

Less: provision for impairment loss
(Note 3.1(ii)(b))

Trade and retention receivables — net

Trade and retention receivables balances are categorised
as “financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The
maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2025 and
2024 was the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security. The carrying amounts of trade and retention
receivables approximate their fair values. The trade and
retention receivables were mainly denominated in HKD
and RMB.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts
of gross trade and retention receivables approximate
their fair values and were denominated in the following
currencies.

HKD BT
RMB AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

17. EG R RE S EWRRR

2025 2024

20254 20244

Notes HKD’000 HKD’000

Jioka FE T FET

(a) 74,958 53,606

(c) 3,509 2,994

78,467 56,600

(4,673) (2,050)

—F 58 73,794 54,550

B RIRE S B HBER D E A R HAR
FENESFEE] - 20259 202493 A31H -
FlZERZNEaEERRAEREE: A
SEVEBEEANERDIEAER -BS RRE
TR CEEEDERAARBEMRE B 5 KR
BeRERRAEBUBTIRARKESE-

R2025%F 202453 A31H 8B 5 KRR E & E W
FHEEEDEEAAERETIRATEEE :

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FET
77,917 55,301
550 1,299
78,467 56,600




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

17. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

The credit terms granted to its customers were
generally 30 days from the invoice date except for
the amount relating to retention money which is
payable after 1 year from the date of completion
of the works. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the
invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 308 A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61£290H
91 to 180 days 912180H
Over 180 days 180H M £

Impairment assessment on financial
assets subject to expected credit loss
model

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The basis of determining the inputs and assumptions
and the estimation techniques are set out in Note
3.1(ii)(b). Details of impairment assessment on
financial assets subject to expected credit loss
model are set out in Note 3.1(ii)(b).

During the year, the Group provided approximately
HKD2,623,000 impairment allowance to trade and
retention receivables and reversed approximately
HKD3,000 impairment allowance to contract assets
respectively (31 March 2024: provided approximately
HKD204,000 impairment allowance to trade and
retention receivables and reversed approximately
HKD576,000 impairment allowance to contract
assets respectively).

D

17. ESG R RESEWRR (#)

(a)

(b)

AEBEERETERFNEES RAERE
AH#£30R - T8FE IR EKBHE1F
2 JEAHR B & 708 - 1220254 202443 A
1A EREHZAH2INEZRKRRZE
BT

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
20,338 12,630
21,729 17,381
15,614 12,066
11,265 1,389
6,012 10,140
74,958 53,606

REANFESERENHSREEE
TEERERFGE

AEERBBETEZRUBEMBERELE
AR ENBHMEEER - BTHA
BB A R R R b RE 7 A M R NP AE
31(i)o) - FEHEEEBREATHEREE
B AT 2 7 15 &5 P FE8.1 (i) (o) ©

FR-ALESFHEE S MRES ERK
LB B #5 #92,623,000/8 TT A & L B E R E
7 [@ 493,000/ 7T (202438318 : 2 5l &
EHMRECERRMANEERERE
#3204,000/% 7T & #9576,000% 7T ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

17. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 17. ESZRRE BN (&)

(Continued)
(c) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the ageing analysis (c) 720254 K202453H31H KEZHAE
of the retention receivables based on the invoice FIH R E & B GR 2 BREE D AT T

date was as follows:

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
F & T FiET
31 to 60 days 31£60H 165 236
61 to 90 days 61%£90H - 758
91 to 180 days 91£180H 11 588
Over 180 days 180H M £ 3,333 1,412
3,509 2,994
Movement on the Group’s provision for impairment of NEBRE S RIRE S U GE L R (E #
trade and retention receivables are detailed in Note 15 /) B 5T & A BT 5E3.1(ii) (D) °
3.1(ii)(b).
18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 18. EHNEERAE
2025 2024
2025% 2024%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
Contract assets (Note (i) BREE (M) 61,629 39,158
Less: provision for impairment loss OB EE B (WS 10)b))
(Note 3.1(i)(b)) (90) (93)
61,539 39,065
Contract liabilities (Note (ij) GRBE(HF3G)) 16,265 5,401
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Continued)
Notes:

19.

U]

(i)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, contract assets related to
interior fit-out solution services consist of unbilled amounts
resulting from interior fit-out solution services when the
revenue recognised exceeds the amount billed to the
customer.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, contract liabilities
recognised represented the progress billings received in
excess of interior fit-out solution services works performed
and the advance payment made by customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year amounted to
approximately HKD5,401,000 (2024: HKD1,716,000). There
was no revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied in previous years during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

Unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2025

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
service contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately
HKD135,678,000 (2024: HKD91,578,000).

DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS

Deposits b a

Other receivables H th g Wk
Financial assets (Note 16)

Prepayments AN

Less: non-current portion of deposits and

Current portion

prepayments

BN HA &R 2>

TREE (Hit16)

R & R IR A
FERNER &R 7>

U]

(i)

(iv)

18. EWEERERE (&)

R2025%F N2024%3A31H B E N EEEE R
ERBEEBNANEERSEAETARERRA
RRFERHERNBRABBE RS WEN S M
EAXNAMARZSHE-

F2025%F 220243 A31H EMABHN AN AE
THEERECERBBRE TR ZERNEERR
HRRBIEREFANK.

HANBERBNDHEREA

RENGAGHEEHRENEEBRRALS
5,401,000/ 7T (20244 : 1,716,000/ 7T ) - R &
20254 NM2024F3A31H IEFER  HER B
FTFEERBITRAOEBEMBERKA -

MR2025F3A31HAREITAL

20253 A31B HEEREA NI HL L
RETHX S5 ERBEELA135,678,000% T
(20244 : 91,578,000/ 7T ) °

10. B€ HMUBERRRENRK

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETT
2,499 1,610
459 736
2,958 2,346
814 870
3,772 3,216
(68) (484)
3,704 2,732
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

19. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. &  -HttBEWRKRBENR (&)

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Except for prepayments of approximately HKD814,000
(2024: HKD870,000), deposits and other receivables are
financial assets categorised as those to be measured at

B 78 < 3R IE #7814,0007% 7T (20244 : 870,000/
TC) N ¥ R HoAth FE UL FR G 5 4B A T B S Ak AR
AENEREE-AEB RS MEMEWRZE

amortised costs. The fair values of the Group’s deposits AABEHHEEEEEMRS -

and other receivables approximate their carrying amounts.

The deposits and other receivables were denominated in
the following currencies:

B MEMEYR T IRATE®HE

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
HKD BT 2,552 2,022
RMB AR 406 324
Total AFt 2,958 2,346
20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. BERIBITHEER
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
Cash at bank and on hand RITEHREFEES

— Cash at bank —R1T4 103,522 139,540
— Cash on hand —FHERE 96 98
Cash and cash equivalents (Note a) ReERREEEBY (Hita) 103,618 139,638
Pledged bank deposits (Note b) EEMRRITTFER (Witb) 12,570 -
Total cash and bank balances IR & RIRTT & 116,188 139,638
Maximum exposure to credit risk ==z ERE 116,092 139,540

Notes: K1 it -

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposit with an
original maturity of three months or less and carrying
interest at prevailing market rate from 0.25% to 3.59%
(2024: 0.08% to 4.61%) per annum.

(o)  Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to bank
to secure the bank facilities (representing surety bonds and
performance guarantees as disclosed in note 25) granted to
the Group, and carried with prevailing market interest rate
at 0.28% to 1.5% per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following

21.

currencies:

HKD
RMB

Others

Total

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD

UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(a)

Share capital

Authorised share capital:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

(@ B=F

R BAN

20234 H1H - 2024%3H318 -

20244718 %20259F3H31H

BERITREE:

MR2023F4H1H - 2024F3A318 *

20244 418 &k2025%3H31H

20. RERIBITE R (2)
He RIRITABIEIU TS G-

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
105,434 128,786
6,336 6,383
4,418 4,469
116,188 139,638

21. RAR RO RBTE NAERS

Number of
Shares Amount
BHER H{E
(in thousand) HKD’000
(FA&) FAETT
5,000,000 39,000
200,000 1,653
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21. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme

21. BB O EBFTE THRERS ()

(b) B 7 52 B 5t &

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the
adoption of the share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) with immediate effect, pursuant
to which all eligible persons will be entitled to
participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognise the contributions by certain eligible
persons and provide them with incentives in order
to retain them for the continuing operation and
development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme was adopted on 16
October 2018 and shall be valid and effective for a
term of 10 years until 15 October 2028 unless early
terminated by the Board.

Under the rules relating to the Share Award Scheme,
the Board may from time to time select employees,
Director or officer of any member of the Group or
any of its affiliates whom the Board or its delegate(s)
considers, in their sole discretion, to have contributed
or will contribute to the Group to participate in the
Share Award Scheme. The vesting period, criteria
and conditions of any award granted are determined
by the Board or its delegate(s) in accordance with
the terms of the Share Award Scheme and the GEM
Listing Rules. Unless otherwise specified in the award
letter, no payment is payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of the award granted. The Company
shall not make any further grant of award which will
result in the aggregate number of Shares underlying
all grants made pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
(excluding forfeited awards) to exceed 16,000,000
Shares, representing 8% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Award
Scheme (i.e., 16 October 2018). There is no service
provider sublimit under the Share Award Scheme.
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HE—FERERSIABEAE-

A% 1D 2 B 5t 21 72018410 H16 B EH H &
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21. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 21. REARRGRBETNRERS (2

UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme (Continued) (b)

RGBS ()

Pursuant to Rule 23.03D(1) of the GEM Listing Rules,
unless approved by independent shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued by the Company in
respect of the share awards granted under the Share
Award Scheme to each participant in any 12-month
period (up to and including the date of grant) shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

As at the beginning of the year ended 31 March
2024, the total number of awards available for grant
under the Share Award Scheme was 16,000,000,
and the underlying 16,000,000 Shares represent 8%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Share Award Scheme.

On 22 September 2023, a total of 2,056,000
ordinary shares (the “Award Shares”) were
granted to 38 eligible persons (“Grantees”) for nil
consideration. On 6 March 2024, the administrative
procedures in connection with the despatch of the
share certificates representing the Award Shares
to the respective Grantees had been completed,
and as such, the transfer of the Award Shares from
the Trustee to the respective Grantees had been
completed. The Award Shares represent a fair value
of approximately HKD873,800, taking into account
the market price of the Shares upon transfer of
the Award Shares was HKD0.425 per Share. The
2,056,000 Award Shares represented approximately
1.083% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of Grant. Save for one Grantee who was
a director and substantial shareholder of a subsidiary
of the Company was therefore a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level, all Grantees
were employees of the Group.

1B % GEM | 43 B 5523.03D(1) 1§ - B FE &
RAARBIBERNBERE EHE T A
RAARRAEMI2EA B (EERBER
HHE) BRERDERS BRI EE
BRHBRMDEEmMETERETFEITHRD
BETSHBACSBITRMHMI% -

REE2024F3A31H LFEHBE R
BRhEBMAE T HRET I EDES AR
16,000,00017 X % K 16,000,000/ i% 15 - 14
RGBT 8 2 BB BETRO A
8% °

M2023F9A22H AR Al L ERER38H
AEBAL ([ERA])E A 2,056,000
B @ik ([REBRH]) -1N2024F3H6
B EERASERANRENRRERRGHK
ZNTHREFE =R Bt SR H B8 <
AAEBEZTFSEARANEED TR &5
MEZBERMDEROOTESER0.425
BT BEIIRS MR R B A873,80078 7T ©
2,056,000 AN IR D EE R IEH ABAERAQ
BB BT ARA1.03% < fr — R AR A AKX
ARANBAREZSRETERRITA K AR
REMBARIEEMBEEA LI FTE X
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21. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 21. REAE RGP EBFTENAiERG (2
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME
(Continued)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued) (b) BRPEBETE (&)
On 6 March 2024, the Board has resolved to the R2024F3A6H EF @A K I KD &
terminate the Share Award Scheme with effect from Bhat &l B2024F3 A6 H AW - B2024%F
6 March 2024. No further Award Shares may be SHEB B NSIRER D REFEIE — P K
granted under the Share Award Scheme in the future BB AR 17

from 6 March 2024.

22. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 22, ESEMNR EFFREMESRK

OTHER PAYABLES

2025 2024

20254 20244

HKD’000 HKD’'000

FET FET

Trade payables =0 Y INEN 120,658 110,562

Accruals and other payables FE T I H & - 3R 1,255 1,920

121,913 112,482
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22. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND

OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of
trade payables, accruals and other payables approximate
their fair values and were denominated in the following

currencies.
HKD BT
RMB AR

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the ageing analysis of the
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:

Within 30 days 308 A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61£290H
91 to 180 days 91E180H
Over 180 days 180H A £

2. ESREAR Bt REMEMNK 2

MN2025%F 2024 3A31H & B Ef 3 fEEt
FEMEMZTNERETEE QA ABERE TR

AT EHHE:

2025
20254
HKD’000
FET

117,953
3,960

2024
20244
HKD’000
FET

107,712
4,770

121,913

112,482

R2025%F 2024 3A31H HEZHEE I H

BHRNR BRI

2025
20254
HKD’000
FET

101,619
2,811
4,023
2,842
9,363

2024
20244
HKD’000
FET

80,011
2,667
7,109

10,390

10,385

120,658

110,562
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23. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 23. IEZEFTBH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary BEFMBHIEBABEEIRERUEEZHEN
differences under the liability method using the tax rate MAROBMERBEDEHRNERBEH 2R EFTE -

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when REFMEHEERBERUEMNBREEE R
there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax MERIEERECZENEREHERELRE
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred A - SEEEENERT  FaEEEHE-

income taxes related to the same fiscal authority.

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTEIREE 2,227 1,121
The net movements in the deferred income tax account EEMSHRIB 2 FE ST
are as follows:
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Opening balance B 4 5 1,121 1,233
Credit/(charged) to profit or loss FRRB=EEFTA (HBR)
for the year (Note 9) (H1:£9) 1,109 77)
Exchange translation difference PE R IRE =& (3) (35)
Closing balance HAR 45 4 2,227 1,121
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23. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and

liabilities (prior to offsetting of balance within the same tax

jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

Accelerated tax
depreciation and
amortisation

MERBFEREH

2025 2024
2025 20244
HKD’000  HKD'000

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

D e

23. IEIEFRBH (&)

BEEFMBHREENRAG (KHERA—DERER 2K
RESRA RFERZEHMT

BRIEMEHEE:
Provisions Tax losses Total
B BB &t
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

20255 20245 20255 20244 20255 20245
HKD’000  HKD'000 — HKD’000 HKD'000 — HKD’000  HKD'000

FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Opening balance BNEH 125 88 414 502 582 643 1,121 1,233
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss AR B
for the year (Note 9) (M%) /EtA
(Wi39) 3) 37 432 (88) 680 (26) 1,109 (77)
Exchange translation difference ~ [EX B =% - - - - ©) (35) @ (35)
Closing balance BRER 122 125 846 414 1,259 582 2,227 1,121

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is
probable.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately
HKD®6,440,000 (2024: HKD5,345,000) in respect of tax
losses of HKD39,030,000 (2024: HKD32,391,000) which
can be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied
to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty between
the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is
not automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to apply
to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the treaty
rate. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by the subsidiary established in the
PRC. As at 31 March 2025, deferred income tax liabilities
of approximately HKD228,000 (2024: HKD243,000) has
not been recognised for the withholding tax that would be
payable on the remittance of earnings of the PRC subsidiary.
The related unremitted earnings amounted to approximately
HKD2,278,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HKD2,427,000),
and the Group does not intend to remit these unremitted
earnings from the relevant subsidiary to the Company in the
foreseeable future.

WA A REEBARRERT G N BB AMBAES
AL AR E R EERRREEAEHEE-

MN2025F3A31H  ANEBE L R H A ER H
HFENHEEEIEN6,440,0008 L (2024
F:5,345, 0008 L ) MRELEFMBHEE D
39,030,000 JT (20244 :32,391,0008 L) °

BIEFRCEMGSHE RPBRKZAINE B
NI E B TR IR E B R10% BT - &
RABEESERNBEHE WPELERE
BREGPESIRBRE AT ZEREEMNH E5%
B - BEZ5% HERERLIEEBIES RHEAF
MEBTENREBMEZTERBHE - Bt
ANEB AR A P EK B R TS IRNKE
BB - R2025F3A31H - AE B W & 5
FEMNEARELHZMNAEAINOEMNHEERD
228,0005 7T (20244F : 243,0007% 7T ) MY ¥E IE Fir
BHEaE - R2025%3A31H HBEKRELEF
%) 52,278,000/ 7T (20244 : 2,427,000 7T ) -
AEBTHATERREZSZRAEBENE R
AW ARIELBFEHEARQA -
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25.

e MR MR

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control or joint control. Related
parties may be individuals or other entities.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Compensation of key management

Key management includes executives of the Group. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

24. BEFRS

BETEEFLMBEREEREREEEH
BamEfl s —TRHEELEAYENNOAL
RARZEHRBEEFOALTRREASBRE-
RELASEALEMERE-

T 3Ottt A £ B B BE s 5 B 220259 2024
FIABMHILGFEEHRERBRPTETNERKR
R5e

TEEBEASEHMH
TEEEABBEAKEITRAR -5HEBRE
ENHENTIEEREABNHINTHAR:

2025 2024

20254 20244

HKD’000 HKD’000

F & T FET

Salaries and allowances e MOERL 3,840 5,587
Discretionary bonuses BB TE4AL 1,101 3,410
Share-based payments VAR A7 A B/ ) 52 A - 18
Retirement benefits contributions RARAE FI 451 36 49
4,977 9,064

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities not
provided for:

Surety bonds B 491X BK
Performance guarantees B#RFE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group provided guarantees
of surety bonds of HKD22,262,000 (31 March 2024:
HKD15,173,000) in respect of 5 (31 March 2024: 4)
interior fit-out solution service contracts of the Group in its
ordinary course of business.
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25. HEEE

AEERFHBEBNLERELT:

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FEIT
22 262 15,173
6,532 -
28,794 15,173

MR2025F3A31A AKEBERAEEHTER
B 51 (2024F3A31H 141 ) EARNEERR
SRITERTS A # IR 22,262,000 JT (202443 A
31H:15,173,000/8 7)) /B 4V 1R B 4R X °
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25.

26.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, performance guarantees of
HKD®6,532,000 (31 March 2024: Nil) were given by a bank
in favour of the Group’s customers in respect of 5 (31
March 2024: Nil) interior fit-out solution service contracts
of the Group as security for the due performance and
observance of the Group’s obligations under the contracts
entered into between the Group and their customers.

If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to
their customers to whom surety bonds and performance
guarantees have been given, such customers may
demand the bank to pay to them the sum or sum
stipulated in such demand. The Group will become liable
to compensate such bank accordingly. The relevant surety
bonds and performance guarantees will be released.

The surety bonds and performance guarantees were
secured by the pledged bank deposits as disclosed in
note 20.

At the end of each reporting period, the Directors of the
Company do not consider it is probable that a claim will
be made against the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and
motivate employees, Directors and other participants,
and to provide a means of compensating them through
the grant of options for their contribution to the growth
and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth
and profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme
include directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive Directors) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any other person who is in the absolute
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

25.

26.

D

ZEEE®)
2025 3A31H  —KIBTTHAEE A (2024
FRAGIH E)EFANREBAFTRRE AL M
KEBEEF 46,532,000/ 7T (202443 A 31
H:E ) WBHARE EFALEERBITHREFES
BRIERTE 2 ER-

FARKERBE R B B AR R B R E R
EFRHABHRY REEFAEERRITER
REXNBEHORESE - RR AEEH AR
TR AR RSB - HEAE AR (L JB /0 R 38 TR AT
AR IR B IR EE S 4 O IR SK AR BR -

B EARE RBAR K - T3 AN E20FT 5
M EBIRRITEREEA -

e =Sk

THERR ARREEARAEET
I 22 B O A] B

A -

B MR B

R2017F 12 A8H » AN R B T 4 /9 B8 % # 51 &I
(IERESE])TAGEM E I FE238\
HEMEE WABTZER T BREFES
RS - #®EBREBHEE EFkEMmSHE
WTEBRTEREMNHTFESHRNEBER K&
FIER BB AR BEZERE EFREMAL
DPEAEBENERRAF-

BREGFINAGERZ2EZERRAQRRRAL
AMBARMNES (BRATES FATES
RBUFMTES) REE (TWEBERE) X
EZe 2R/ EAEECHFHABELER
MV ERIE M AL
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. BIRESTE (2)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the
options granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption and up to the date of this report, hence
no outstanding share option as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

200 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2025

ARBEERESE S RN B BREETT
{58 10 AT BE B2 7T AV AR 10 42 #1/4520,000,0000% * 15 7
AREBPARFN D BEITRALEHLI10% °

REM12(E A B AREBRESSC K TR
HETEEERALINBERE (BRCETR
EEHRARBTENBRE) BITEMSEHTR
BT ETHORNERTSEBE HTRN1% -

REBREFIROBERENENA HARA
EXMBTRERER-

BT B N2017 12 ABH B T F M+
BRC-LERHZBRETERS 5 BRE
IREZE2RNBECNIHEEE HERET
T E A AE - RPISOERRME

BRESATERENTEERESTSEE
BABERATESENRODNEL B (LA
REXB)AEMZMABKRAMTOKTE: () B
BB B A A X BB B AT B Rk
PR F I Y (8« R (i) B EfE

BEEREFSRMEEARESAH  BETME
REEREEREZE RS R BT E e
0 A It 720255 202443831 H I £ T 1]
BATTEINO BB A B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Below table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the
results and net assets of the Group. To give full details of
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length. Unless otherwise stated, they
have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are
held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.

27.

TEMBARIZFHE

TRIMWEERR/IBREAREXELFE
ENAEETZMBRAR -EFA R RENE
RENEHMFFEEERRERAR -BRABAHRBIN
BAERASEEEFEN T BIRENK  FFE
MMAERGIL O BARBREHNRRERS -

Name of subsidiaries

HWEARER

Indirectly held subsidiaries
BEREHBAR

Sanbase Contracting (Engineering) Limited

Sanbase Interior Contracting Limited
EIRIE LN

Siwu Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited
BMAIRERABRAA

Studio 5 International Limited

i) RN

Core Group Holding Limited

Sanbase Management Limited

Place of incorporation,
operation and kind of
legal entity

ERAY TEEEHER
EERRER

Hong Kong, limited liability
5 BRAF

Hong Kong, limited liability
5 BRAR

PRC, limited liability

PE ARAA

Hong Kong, limited liability
BB BRAF

BVI, limited liability
RBRAEE BRAA
BVI, limited liability

EEREREE BRAA

Issued and fully paid

Ownership interest held

share capital/registered by the Group
and paid-up capital ARBEENRRRRSR
BEARBRRE/ 2025 2024 Principal activities
MR RA 20255 20245 TEED
HKD10,000 100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
10,0005 7T REZRRERRAR
HKD10,000 100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
10,000/ 7 REZNEERRAAE
RMB1,500,000 65% 65% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
AR ¥1,500,0007 #it EREERASRMES
HKD10,000 60% 60% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
10,0007 70 Rt ENRERATRRER
USD50,000 60% 60% Investment holding
50,000% 7T REAERK
USD1 100% 100% Purchase, administers and holds

the Company’s Shares for

share award scheme
1= BE BRRHBARARD KA

GiEs{ )
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A BRI

27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 27. T EMB AR 2=+ 1B (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(a) Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) (a) FEREDS ([FERER])
Set out below is summarised financial information for NTEHIASEEBEERFELEBRESNNE
subsidiaries that has non-controlling interests that Rl BENBE-MBRAAHEHTEIRA
are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for AEE BRI 2 &R -

subsidiaries are before inter-company eliminations.

Core Group

Summarised balance sheet GZ Siwu and its subsidiaries
BERRRBEE EME R Core Group X HffE 2 7
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20244 20254 2024 %
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET FE T FET
Current assets MENEE 9,558 10,558 59,392 67,268
Current liabilities MEAEE (6,096) (7,239) (46,304) (54,723)
Current net assets FRBEE 3,462 3,319 13,088 12,545
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,158 879 1,459 2,320
Non-current liabilities ERBERE (471) - (306) (835)
Non-current net assets BEFRBEE 687 879 1,153 1,485
Net assets FEE 4,149 4,198 14,241 14,030
Accumulated NCI RIEF TR EE 1,519 1,536 5,611 5,523
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27. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 27. T EMB AR ZH1E (&)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Non-controlling interest (“NCI”) (Continued) (a) FERER ([FERER]) (£)
Summarised statement of comprehensive Core Group
income GZ Siwu and its subsidiaries
E2HEHWERBE EME R Core Group X B 2 7

2025 2024 2025 2024

20254 20244 20254 20244

HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET FET FET

Revenue KA 9,476 15,857 200,450 175,515

(Loss)/profit and other FR(HE) wF

comprehensive (loss)/ EHEMEZME
income for the year (E18) Wi (49) 139 6,211 5,063
(Loss)/profit and total FA(ER) R
comprehensive income TR
for the year allocated AT IEIE R R
to NCI (17) 49 2,484 2,025
Dividend paid to NCI B FIEERE S
2B - - (2,396) (1,984)
Summarised cash flows Core Group
GZ Siwu and its subsidiaries
RERERPE EME R Core Group X Hf B 2 7
2025 2024 2025 2024
20254 20244 20254 20244
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FETT FET FET
Cash flows from wEE s RERE
operating activities (301) (957) (3,766) 20,284
Cash flows from HEETH RERE
investing activities - - (71) (74)
Cash flows from BEEH AT E
financing activities 276 (534) (6,902) (5,902)
Net (decrease)/ ReRESEEY
increase in cash and (R 2) /&
cash equivalents HEE (25) (1,491) (10,739) 14,308
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 28. XATMB MR KRR #EED

AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) A2 7 MBEARREK
Company
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
20254 20244
3AS81H 3H31H
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LR =N 1 50
Interests in a subsidiary R—ENB AR Z R 35,064 35,064
Financial asset at fair value BAREFABRZ
through profit or loss SREE 12,063 14,202
47,128 49,316
Current assets RBEE
Deposits, other receivables and e HabEUR R IB K
prepayments 661 656
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE WS BT B8 R B FR 17,056 17,477
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEED 39,734 38,455
________ 57,451 56,588
Total assets WEE 104,579 105,904
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Company (Continued)

Equity

Equity attributable to the
owners of the Company

Share capital

Share premium

Other reserve

Accumulated losses

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Employee benefit obligations

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the

R

RATERANELS
FE 58

(RN

B dn 4 (B

HAbf#

REtEE

R

*RBEE
BE®BANAIME

a8E

REBRE

FET R E b FE 3K
JE A PR /BB 2 B 3K

mEE

HmEZREE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

D

(@) Z2APHMRREK (&)

28. AT BMRRERRRBEES &)

31 March 31 March

2025 2024

20254 20244

3H31H 3A31H

Note HKD’000 HKD’000
ok FE T FET
1,553 1,553

28(b) 57,632 57,632
28(b) 34,986 34,986
28(b) (27,684) (26,263)
66,487 67,908

20 7

419 248

37,653 37,741

________ 38,072 37,989
________ 38,002 37,996
104,579 105,904
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

28. AT MBMRRERRRBEES &)

(b) Movements in the Company’s reserves (b) XARIREEH
Other
Share reserve  Accumulated
premium (Note) losses Total
Hoth i 4
R EE (Hit) ZAER &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2023 2023 3H318 57,632 34,986 (23,360) 69,258
Loss for the year FRERE - - (2,903) (2,903)
At 31 March 2024 2024 3H318 57,632 34,986 (26,263) 66,355
Loss for the year FREE - = (1,421) (1,421)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%F3A31H 57,632 34,986 (27,684) 64,934
Note: Bt -

Other reserve of the Company represented the difference
between the consideration payable of HKD10,000 and the
carrying value of the Company’s subsidiary of approximately
HKD34,996,000 acquired during the Group’s reorganisation
before the Company’s listing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF

DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments

The remuneration of each Director and chief
executive of the Company for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out below:

Name of Directors

E

Year ended 31 March 2025
Chairman and chief executive officer
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen

Executive director
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Mr. Siu Chi Wai

Mr. Law Chun Yat

Name of Directors

E24W

Year ended 31 March 2024
Chairman and chief executive officer
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen

Executive directors
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen

Mr. Siu Chi Wai

Mr. Law Chun Yat

2. EEREARER

() EERTHRARMNE

RE E2025% K2024FE3A31HLEE - &
BEERARAITHRASENOMSENNT

Allowance Employer’s
and  contribution to

Discretionary  benefit in a retirement
Note Fees Salaries bonus kind  benefit scheme Total
EMEEA EEEKEF
Hi# ne e HETL A g i3 G
HKD'000  HKD’000 HKD'000  HKD’000 HKD'000  HKD’000
FAT TE7 FAT FE7 FAT FE7
HE2025F3ANALEE
FRRTHAE
THELE 240 1,980 901 - 18 3,139
BiEs
HEdrr e 240 1,380 200 - 18 1,838
BIFHTES
REXEE 216 - - - - 216
BEELE (i) 144 - - - - 144
FRREE 180 - - - - 180
1,020 3,360 1,101 - 36 5,517
Allowance Employer's
and contribution to
Discretionary  benefit in a retirement
Notes Fees Salaries bonus kind benefit scheme Total
EEHA EERAEMN
his# ne % Bgra & HEL:3 S At
HKD'000  HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000
FEr T FiEr Fér FiEr Fér
HE2024F3ANALEE
FRRTHAE
THFEE 240 1,980 2,740 - 18 4,978
BES
aehnt 240 1,380 670 - 18 2,308
RE&EL i - 1,747 - 18 13 1,778
BUkHTES
RENEE 216 - - - - 216
RE2EE iy 82 - - - - 82
BEEEE (i) 57 - - - - 57
Efrrrs 180 - - - - 180
1,015 5,107 3,410 18 49 9,599
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 2. EEENRESR &)
DIRECTORS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

() EERTRARMNE (&)

emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo retired as an executive
director of the Company on 18 August 2023.

(i) Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen retired as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
on 18 August 2023.

(iiy  Mr. Siu Chi Wai has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
on 9 November 2023.

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as
Directors.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining
the Group, and no compensation was paid or
receivable by directors or past directors for loss of
office as director of any member of the Group or of
any other office in connection with the management
of the affairs of any member of the Group during
both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

29. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 29(a), the Directors did
not receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the financial year (2024: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
did not pay any consideration to any third party for
making available Directors’ services (2024: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of Directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such Directors

As at 31 March 2025, there are no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of Directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such Directors (2024: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2024: Nil).

2. EER/ARESR (#)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERNEBEANRRLEF

BREfFE29() TR EE SN EFREFERN - E
FRA WBUE R KR F R AR IERR A (2024
FoE) -

DERUEEREQF=ZSRUNK
=

H E2025F3A3MHFEEN AR AW ARG
ERHEEREMEME=H A HEM
RAB (20244 : &) o

FRUESE RESEFNEZEKREB
EEEAZRANER BUERR
HittX B HER

MR2025F3A31H MEBEUNESE FESHE
SR EZEREEERE AT S ANTANER
HMUBERKEMRZ S (20244 : ) -

ESRRS RSREGHTNEXRR
&=

RERKFAEAER X2FH T FE
TRARAKREXBERMNEARS L5
FERMEFRETZTAEERKEHENE
Rz (20245 ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

30. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
(a) Cash generated from operations
Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to
cash (used in)/generated from operations

30. REARBREHR
() EEEEZEE
WETS LA (KSR i BB (F
A) JEEZRERHR

2025 2024
20254 20244
Notes HKD’000 HKD’'000
B &t FET FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISRLRT (B518) s F (1,279) 1,749
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation on property, plant ME- -WEREELITE
and equipment 206 533
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 2,770 2 057
Fair value changes of a financial asset BEARnBfTEBHE
at FVPL FABSEZEREERN
NIRIE 2 2,060 437
Share-based payments ARt A E & S - 874
Provision/(reversal of provision) for SRMEERBEEBZEBE
impairment losses on financial assets (#m) 2,620 (372)
Finance income — net A —F 58 (2,858) (3,268)
Provision for employee benefit EERMNE T ZRME
obligations (319) 272
Gain of termination of lease wIEEE kR E 2 -
Loss on written off of property, I E - RS KRR 1 I EE RS 1B
plant and equipment 2 -
Operating profit before working EEBEECEHRIZ
capital changes: 48 A 3,200 2,282
Trade and retention receivables H 5 KR E e FE UK (21,869) 33,415
Deposits, other receivables and e HibEU R I K
prepayments (558) (372)
Contract assets BREE (22,487) 66,891
Trade payables 25 EMA 10,123 (70,944)
Accruals and other payables JE BT Ko E Ath JE A 5K (77) (1,362)
Contract liabilities AWAaE 10,855 3,703
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & (Fif) /EL£ 2R E (20,813) 33,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

30. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of financing activities
This section sets out an analysis and the movements
of liabilities from financial activities during the years

30. HERERER ()
(b) MEEFTE 2FEH X
AR 5 T B E R B F 20254 %2024
FIAZIHIEEREAZEE):

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024

Lease liabilities

HEA®E

HKD’000

FET

At 1 April 2023 R2023F 4 H1H 2,024
Cash flows ReEn=E (2,216)
Additions (Note 13(i) WNE (HiF133)) 4,245
Finance costs B 7 B AR 114
Exchange translation differences fERIREER (46)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 4,121
At 1 April 2024 R2024F 4 H1H 4,121
Cash flows REmE (2,859)
Additions (Note 13()) WE (HaE133)) 1,155
Finance costs B 75 B AR 136
Termination of lease WIEME 2)
Exchange translation differences fERIREERE (3)
At 31 March 2025 R2025%F3H31H 2,548
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFEHBHRE
Results E
Year ended 31 March
EZ3ASIHLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025%F 20244 2023%F 2022%F 20214
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000
FET FET FET T FET
Revenue WA 418,769 428,077 517,599 413,122 481,286
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETERIAT (B51B) & F (1,279) 1,749 4,128 (6,833) (953)
Income tax (expense)/credit B (AX) /B2 (202) (1,030) (1,547) (413) 1,393
(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners ~ FRARAIHEE A
of the Company for the year fElE (BB) /&7 (3,976) (1,369) 751 (5,735) 397
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FARRAEEAEELEZA
attributable to the owners of (B1B) |aEBE
the Company for the year (4,048) (1,133) 750 (5,626) 810
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

20255 20244 20234 20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000
FHET FET FET FET FET

Total assets BERHE 281,788 266,360 334,481 287,042 265,409
Total liabilities afELH 141,781 122,376 190,328 144,893 116,204
Net assets EEFH 140,007 143,984 144,153 142,149 149,205

Equity attributable to the owners of ERAATNEB A
the Company for the year b= 132,877 136,925 137,184 136,434 142,484
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